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OUR STORY 

Jasper Investments Limited (the “Company”) is a company listed on the SGX since 1993. The 

company is engaged in the provision of marine transportation services in the North Asian region, 

specifically catering to the infrastructure industry. 

Jasper believes the long term nature of infrastructure projects will bring about stability for the growth 

of the company. Jasper has also been contracted to act as project manager for infrastructural works 

in the North Asian region, with particular emphasis on marine transportation. 

CONTENTS

Our Story

Page 1 Letter to Shareholders 

Page 3 Corporate Information 

Page 5 Board of Directors 

Page 7 Corporate Governance Report 

Page 33 Financial Statements (Pages F1 – F40) 

Page I Statistics of Shareholdings 

Page III Notice of Annual General Meeting 

Page P-1 Proxy Form 



1 

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

Year 2020 was meant to be the year when Jasper would eventually monetize its marine logistic 

projects in the Greater Bay Area of China into healthy revenue streams for the company and financial 

rewards for our shareholders. Preparation on the ground and initial mobilization works begun in 

earnest in mid 2Q 2019 as your company managed to register its first revenue from our contracts. 

Your board even debated the merits of deployment of marine vessels should it be prior or after the 

Chinese New Year. However, everything changed when the outbreak of coronavirus occurred on 18 

January 2020 leading to a complete lock-down of cities. 

The Virus that Changed the World. 

In the past few months the world, from Beijing to Berlin or Wuhan to Washington, has witnessed an 

unprecedented scale of destruction of the modern day economy, largely driven by human interactions 

and thrived on business activities, as we knew it were totally up-ended. Capitals and cities were 

ordered to lock-down as their inhabitants stayed home to practise social distancing in order to avoid 

the coronavirus infection. As a result, cash flows to businesses, no matter small or large, came to a 

grinding halt and as a result many of them faced a similar fate; a bleak outlook and an uncertain future. 

And if they had not already been bankrupted. Traditional retailers, leisure, tourism and transportation, 

airlines in particular, all took the brunt. 

Reminiscent of the last financial crisis in 2008, except not confined to Wall Street while significantly 

more severe this time, key central banks decisively slashed their key interest rates while engaged in 

massive stimulus programmes to save their economies from falling into an abyss. Governments 

rushed in to the rescue with ‘furlong’ programmes to starve off massive workers dismissal while 

bolstered their efforts with in-discriminant subsidies to keep the private sector afloat including handing-

out cash directly into consumers’ pockets. Multiple government programmes simultaneously injected 

liquidity into the financial markets to prop up asset prices to avoid panic dumping of bonds and stocks.  

At the time of writing, the total fiscal stimulus and liquidity injections between the US, China, Japan 

and the EU amounted to US$6tn+ and counting. That’s a massive 10%+ of their aggregated GDP in 

2019.  

To illustrate the severity of the fallout from the coronavirus, the US economy managed to contract by 

an un-precedented 32.9% in the 2Q, first ever since records began, while the unemployment claims 

spiked to a massive 30mn+ in April, not seen since the Great Depression in the 1920s. Singapore and 

the UK also recorded huge contractions of 42.9% and 20.9% in their 2Q GDP respectively. If these 

were not bad enough, then consider the following; the West Texas Intermediate oil futures dropped to 

an unimaginable level of minus $37.43 per barrel on 20 Apr (yes, the seller had to pay the buyer 

$37.43 per barrel as scarcity of storage space caused by excessive inventory build-up in the face of 

slump demand). The world only started to grapple with how close we were from failing off the cliff as 

events and news were unfolded.  
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The relief from Covid 19 emerged in June appeared short lived as various cities began to lock down 

again. Adding insult to the injury, the escalating dispute on trade and technology fronts between China 

and the US would likely undermine recovery of the entire global economy to the pre-Covid 19 state.  

Looking forward and Post Covid 19. 

Your company has suffered its fair share of pain as our projects have been interrupted and delayed 

by the crisis. The management has implemented severe measures to retain cash while proactively 

seeking ways to restart our contracts as the local conditions improved. Jasper has also requested all 

our service providers to recalibrate their level of service to be commensurate with an appropriate 

financial compensation going forward.  

You would be glad to learn that China is the 1st major economy turning around quickly as its 2Q GDP 

managed to grow at 3.2% as your company is “combing through the rubble” left behind by this crisis 

for new opportunity. And we have every reason to believe that Jasper will emerge stronger while 

adding value to our shareholders on the other side of this crisis.  

One thing is certain the world would surely be a very different place post the Covid 19 incident.  

Appreciation All Round 

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my sincere thanks to both past and present Directors 

whom have contributed in many ways. We are also particularly thankful to our Shareholders who have 

given their support to the Management and the Company.  

I would also like to thank our partners, suppliers, customers and business associates for their support 

going through the Covid 19 and we look forward to building stronger relationships with all of you in 

FY2021. 

Independent Chairman. 

Michael Chan Wai Kwong. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

CHAN WAI KWONG MICHAEL

Independent Chairman and Lead Independent Director 

Mr Michael Chan joined the board as an Independent Director in November 2015. Mr Chan is the 

Independent Chairman and Audit Committee Chairman as well as a member of the Nominating 

Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

Mr Chan established his early career as an investment professional with established financial 

institutions such as Standard Chartered International Trustee in Hong Kong and Scottish Widows 

Investment Management in the UK. The fund that he co-managed was one of the best performers in 

its asset class during his tenure at Scottish Widows. 

Mr Chan has ventured into direct investments and deal originations for private equities in the past 

years focusing on small to medium size transactions. Sector of interests including oil & gas, coal 

mining, consumer and plantation. 

Mr Chan earned his Bachelor in Technical Science from the University of Sheffield UK and a MBA 

degree from the Manchester Business School UK. 

HENG AIK YONG

Executive Director and Acting Chief Executive Officer 

Mr Edmund Heng was appointed to the Board of Jasper in January 2018. Mr Heng is currently an 

Executive Director and the Acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 

Mr Heng started with the Insolvency unit of the Coopers & Lybrand in Singapore (now known as PwC) 

where he immersed himself with  Judicial Management and Liquidation  assignments. These custodian 

and trust related work further led him to a wider scope of investment and compliance responsibilities 

in an insurance joint venture between Astra International, a large Indonesian conglomerate and the 

Colonial Mutual Group. 

Mr Heng also took on the CFO role at the IT units of the Gunung Sewu Kencana Group – a private 

medium size family owned conglomerate. The varied employments and nature of his work entailed 

managing different stakeholders with different agendas. With his soft skills and business experiences 

in Indonesia, Mr Heng later became an advisor to Taiwan’s Evergreen and EVA Air groups when the 

latter entered the Indonesian market. 

His current passion is setting up sustainable and renewable biomass plants in Indonesia through  his 

own company and his network of agricultural and biomass groups. 

Mr Heng is a Singaporean and he graduated from the Royal Road University of Canada with a degree 

in International Master of Business Administration. 
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RAJAN GANAPATHY

Independent Director 

Mr Rajan Ganapathy was appointed to the board as an Independent Director in September 2019. He 

is the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and the Remuneration Committee as well as a member 

of the Audit Committee. 

From December 2010 to August 2019, Mr Rajan was the Chief Internal Auditor of Mizuho Bank 

Malaysia which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Mizuho Banking Group based in Tokyo, Japan. He 

was responsible for setting up the internal audit department, drafting the Terms of Reference of the 

Audit Committee, the Audit Charter, the Audit Manual, the General Audit Plan, the Risk Score Cards, 

draft Audit Report formats and Executive Summary formats.   

He also drafted the necessary audit programs and internal control questionnaires to be used for 

auditing the bank. 

Over the course of his professional career, Mr Rajan has had working experience primarily in the 

taxation, legal and banking industry. His experiences included working with Price Waterhouse Tax 

Services in Malaysia as a Tax Assistant, a Legal Officer with Usaha Tegas Private Limited and as an 

internal auditor with Public Bank Limited. 

Mr Rajan holds a Bachelor of Laws (LL.B) degree from the University of London, and a Master of Laws 

(LL.M) in Transnational Business Practice from the University of the Pacific, McGeorge School of Law, 

USA.  

WU FENGJI

Non-Independent Non-Executive Director 

Mr Wu Fengji was appointed to the board as a Non-Independent Non-Executive Director in June 2020. 

He is a member of the Audit Committee, Nominating Committee and Remuneration Committee. 

He is a graduate from Newcastle University and holds a degree in Naval Architecture with Marine 

Engineering. He has over 10 years hands on business experience including essential construction 

material trading, vessel chartering and brokering, and experience in land reclamation projects in 

Singapore and overseas. He is the Director of Barten Group of Companies and Director of Wing Seng 

Company Limited. 
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 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

INTRODUCTION 

On 6 August 2018, the Monetary Authority of Singapore issued the revised Code of Corporate 

Governance 2018 (the “Code”) and accompanying Practice Guidance, which supersedes the previous 

Code of Corporate Governance issued in 2012, and is applicable to annual reports covering financial 

years commencing from 1 January 2019. 

The Directors and Management of Jasper Investments Limited (the “Company”, together with its 

subsidiaries, the “Group”) are committed  to  achieving and maintaining  high  standards of  corporate  

governance, in compliance with the Principles and Provisions set out in the Code and the relevant 

sections of the Listing Manual (the “Listing Manual”) issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities 

Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”). 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is pleased to confirm that for the financial year ended 31 March 

2020 (“FY2020”), the Company had generally adhered to the guidelines as outlined in the Code. This 

report sets out the Company’s key corporate governance practices with reference to the Code, where 

appropriate. Where there are deviations from the Code, the reasons for the deviations are explained 

accordingly in accordance with Rule 710 of the Listing Manual. 

I.  BOARD MATTERS

Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Affairs 

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board 

is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the Company. The Board works with 

Management to achieve this and the Management remains accountable to the Board. 

The Board is elected by the shareholders to supervise the Management of the business and affairs of 

the Company. Its main responsibility is to ensure the viability of the Company and to ensure that it is 

managed in the best interest of the shareholders as a whole while taking into account the interests of 

other stakeholders. 

The Board is responsible for setting the overall strategy, direction and long–term goals of the Group. 

It reviews major investment and divestment proposals, risk management policies and practices, 

financial objectives and key business initiatives. Through committees, it also reviews the financial 

performance of the Group and recommends the framework of remuneration for the Board and key 

executives, approves nomination of Directors and appointments to the various Board Committees. In 

addition, the Board also assumes the responsibility for the Company’s compliance with the guidelines 

on corporate governance. The Board will also consider sustainability issues such as environmental 

and social factors as part of its strategic formulation in line with the recommendations of the Code. 
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Matters which are specifically reserved for the Board’s approval are significant acquisitions and 

disposals of assets, corporate or financial restructuring, share issuance, dividend payments or other 

returns to shareholders, approval of accounts and results announcements, matters involving conflicts 

of interest for a substantial shareholder or a director (of which the directors facing conflicts of interest 

will recuse themselves from such discussions and decisions involving the issues of conflict in 

accordance with Provision 1.1 of the Code) and any major decision which may have an impact on the 

Group. Other matters are delegated to Board Committees and Management for review and decision 

making. The Board Committees and Management are accountable to the Board. 

To assist in the execution of  its responsibilities, the Board has established three (3) Board committees, 

namely the Audit  Committee (“AC”), Nominating  Committee (“NC”) and Remuneration Committee 

(“RC”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The Board delegates specific responsibilities to these 

Board Committees which operate within specified terms of reference setting out the scope of its duties 

and responsibilities and procedures governing the manner in which it is to operate and how decisions 

are to be taken. The Board Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and report to 

the Board with their recommendations. The Board accepts that while these Board Committees have 

the authority to examine particular issues and will report to the Board their decisions and 

recommendations, the ultimate responsibility for the final decision on all matters lies with the entire 

Board.  

Formal Board meetings are held quarterly to review the Group’s business and financial performance, 

policies and procedures, acquisitions and disposals and to approve the release of results to the SGX-

ST. In addition to the scheduled meetings, ad–hoc meetings are convened as and when required for 

particular purposes. Board members may participate in meetings by telephone or video conference 

which is permitted under the Company’s Constitution. All Board meetings are attended by the 

Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures are followed. 

During the year, the number of meetings held and the attendance of each current Director at the Board 

and Board Committee meetings are as follows:  

Board Audit Nominating Remuneration 
Name of 

Directors 

No. of 

Meeting

s held 

No of 

Meeting

s 

attended 

No. of 

Meeting

s held 

No. of 

Meeting

s 

attended 

No. of 

Meeting

s held 

No. of 

Meeting

s 

attended 

No. of 

Meeting

s held 

No. of 

Meeting

s 

attended 

Chan Wai 

Kwong 

Michael 

4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 

Heng Aik 

Yong (1)

4 4 4 4* 1 1 1 1 

Rajan 

Ganapath

y (2)

4 2 4 2 1 0 1 0 

Wu Fengji 
(3)

4 0 4 0 1 0 1 0 

Koh How 

Thim (4)

4 4 4 4 1 1 1 1 
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Notes: 

* By invitation 

1. Mr Heng Aik Yong was appointed and re-designated as an Executive Director and Acting CEO of the Company 

on 1 June 2019 

2. Mr Rajan Ganapathy was appointed as a Director of the Company on 5 September 2019. 

3. Mr Wu Fengji was appointed as a Director of the Company on 1 June 2020. 

4. Mr Koh How Thim ceased to be a director of the Company on 25 March 2020. 

In addition to formal meetings, the Directors are provided with updates on pertinent developments in 

the business and Company matters by Management via emails and telephone calls and conferences. 

As some of the Board members are based overseas, appropriate updates are provided to and 

discussed with other Board members through emails and telephone calls. 

Non-Executive Directors (including Independent Directors) are expected to challenge and help and 

had constructively challenged and helped develop proposals on strategy as well as review the 

performance of the Management in meeting agreed goals and objectives and to monitor the reporting 

of performance. 

The Company does not have a formal training programme for new Directors. However, to assist 

Directors in discharging their duties, they are updated on the relevant laws, continuing listing 

obligations and standards requiring compliance and their implications for the Group. Newly appointed 

Directors will be briefed by Management on the operations of the Group so as to enable them to have 

a better understanding of the Group’s business. Directors are encouraged to attend seminars and 

receive training to improve themselves in the discharge of their duties. 

Access to Information

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, Board members should be provided with complete, adequate and 

timely information prior to Board meetings and on an on-going basis. 

In accordance with Provision 1.6 of the Code, the Board receives complete, adequate and timely 

information on the Group prior to meetings and on an on-going basis. Directors are provided with 

monthly management accounts. In addition, relevant information on material events and transactions 

are circulated to Directors as and when they arise. Directors are regularly updated on business and 

operations by Management via emails and telephone conferences. The agenda for Board meetings 

are prepared in consultation with the Acting CEO and relevant papers are provided to Directors in 

advance of Board and Board Committees meetings. In accordance with Provision 1.7 of the Code, 

Non–Executive Directors have separate, independent and unrestricted access to Management and 

may also consult with other employees and seek additional information if and when required. 

The Board also has separate and independent access to the Company Secretary.  All Board meetings 

are attended by the Company Secretary who ensures that Board procedures are followed and 

applicable laws and regulations are complied with. The Company Secretary also ensures information 

flow within the Board and its Board Committees and between Management and the Board. The 

appointment and removal of the Company Secretary is a matter reserved for the Board as a whole. 
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Changes to regulations are closely monitored by Management. Where these changes have an 

important bearing on the Company or the Directors’ disclosure obligations, Directors are briefed either 

during Board meetings or through the Company Secretary. 

Where necessary, the Directors may, in order to fulfil their roles and responsibilities, seek independent 

professional advice, at the expense of the Company. 

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance 

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective 

judgment on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management. No individual or small 

group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making. The Board has an 

appropriate level of independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to enable 

it to make decisions in the best interests of the Company. 

The Board currently comprises four members. Two of the Directors are Independent Non-Executive 

Directors (namely, Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael and Mr Rajan Ganapathy), one Director is a Non-

Independent Non-Executive Director (namely, Mr Wu Fengji) and one Director is an Executive Director 

(namely, Mr Heng Aik Yong). As the Chairman is independent, Independent Directors make up half of 

the Board and are not required to make up a majority of the Board pursuant to Provision 2.2 of the 

Code. In accordance with Provision 2.3 of the Code, Non-Executive Directors make up a majority of 

the Board.  

Each Director is appointed based on the strength of his calibre, experience and potential to contribute 

to the Company and its business. The Board is of the view that, given the Group’s current scope of 

business operations, the current Board size and composition, which comprise one member with 

specialized industry knowledge as well as others with diverse skills, experience and attributes, 

provides for effective direction for the Group. The NC will review the composition of the Board 

periodically to ensure that the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience and 

collectively possess the necessary core competencies for effective functioning and informed decision-

making. Even though the Company does not have a formal board diversity policy as required by 

Provision 2.4 of the Code, the Company recognizes the importance and benefits of having an effective 

and diverse board, taking into consideration that the Board comprises the appropriate balance and 

mix of skills, knowledge, experience, and other aspects of diversity so as to avoid groupthink and 

foster constructive debate, and the practices which the Company have adopted are consistent with 

the intent of Principle 2 of the Code, which requires the Board to have an appropriate level of 

independence and diversity of thought and background in its composition to enable it to make 

decisions in the best interest of the Company. 

The NC also reviews and determines the independence of each Director on an annual basis based on 

the guidelines provided by the Code and the rules in the Listing Manual. The criterion for independence 

goes beyond the definition given in the Code. The Board considers an “independent”  Director as one 

who is independent in conduct, character and judgment, and has no relationship with the Company, 

its related companies, its substantial shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably 

perceived to interfere, with the exercise of the Director’s independent judgment of the conduct of the 
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Group’s affairs in the best interests of the Company. In addition, an “independent”  Director should 

also not represent the interests on any particular shareholder or group of shareholders.  

None of the Independent Directors has served on the Board of the Company beyond nine years from 

the date of his appointment.

In accordance with Provision 2.5 of the Code, the Non-Executive Directors and/or Independent 

Directors will meet up without the presence of Management, where necessary, to facilitate a more 

effective check on the Management. Subsequent to such meetings, the chairman of such meetings 

will provide feedback to the Board and/or the Acting CEO as appropriate. 

The profiles of each of the Directors are set out in the “Board of Directors” section of this Annual 

Report, including details of the listed company directorships and principal commitments of each 

Director in accordance with Provision 4.5 of the Code. Particulars of interests of Directors who held 

office at the end of the financial year in shares, debentures, warrants and share options in the 

Company and in related corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) are set out in the 

Directors’ Statement on page F-1 of this Annual Report. 

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

There should be a clear division of responsibilities at the top of the Company – the working of the 

Board and the executive responsibility of the Company’s business – which will ensure a balance of 

power and authority, such that no one individual represents a considerable concentration of power or 

has unfettered powers of decision-making. 

The Company notes the recommendation that the roles of the Chairman and the CEO should be 

separate and distinct, each having their own areas of responsibilities. The operations of the Company 

are currently taken care of primarily by Mr Heng Aik Yong, an Executive Director and Acting CEO of 

the Company.  The Independent Chairman is Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael. The Company believes 

that this distinctive separation of responsibilities between the Independent Chairman and the Acting 

CEO will ensure an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of the 

Board for independent decision-making in accordance with Provisions 3.1 and 3.2 of the Code. 

Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael is currently the Independent Chairman, Lead Independent Director and 

AC Chairman of the Company. In accordance with Provision 3.3 of the Code, Mr Chan has made 

himself available for shareholders to reach out to him in situations where there are concerns and where 

communications with the Acting CEO or any of the other key position holders has failed to resolve 

such concerns or may be inappropriate or inadequate. 

As Independent Chairman and Lead Independent Director, Mr Chan can also facilitate periodic 

meetings with the other Independent Directors and/or Non-Executive Directors in board matters, when 

necessary and provides feedback to the Acting CEO after such meeting. His other specific roles as 

Independent Chairman and Lead Independent Director includes: 

a) acting as liaison between the Independent Directors and/or Non-Executive Directors and the 

Acting CEO and lead the Independent Directors and/or Non-Executive Directors to provide 
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non-executive perspectives in circumstances where it would be inappropriate for the Acting 

CEO to serve in such capacity and to contribute a balanced viewpoint to the Board; 

b) advising the  Acting  CEO as to  the  quality,  quantity  and timeliness of  the  information  

submitted by Management that  is necessary or appropriate  for  the Independent Directors 

and/or Non-Executive Directors to  effectively and responsibly perform their duties; and 

c) assisting the Board and officers of the Company in better ensuring compliance with and 

implementation of corporate governance. 

As Independent Chairman, Mr Chan chairs the Board of Directors and is primarily responsible for the 

effective working of the Board. 

The Acting CEO and the Independent Chairman of the Company are not related to each other. 

Principle 4: Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment of new directors to the Board 

and re-appointment of Directors, taking into account the need for progressive renewal of the Board. 

The NC currently comprises three Directors, namely Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael (Independent 

Chairman and Lead Independent Director), Mr Rajan Ganapathy (Independent Director) and Mr Wu 

Fengji (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director). The Chairman of the NC is Mr Rajan Ganapathy. 

In accordance with Provision 4.2 of the Code, the NC comprises at least three Directors, the majority 

of whom, including the Chairman of the NC, are independent. The Lead Independent Director is also 

a member of the NC. 

The NC serves to ensure a transparent process for the nomination  of Directors to the Board and has 

the responsibility of determining  an appropriate process to review and evaluate the Board’s 

performance as a whole as well as each individual Director on the Board. 

The functions of the NC include: 

 administering nominations and re–nominations to the Board; 

 reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board; 

 making recommendations to the Board on the review of board succession plans and 

succession plans for key management personnel; 

 making  recommendations  to  the  Board on  the  development  of  a process for  evaluation 

of  the performance of the Board, its Board committees and Directors, and proposing 

objective performance criteria that address how the Board has enhanced long-term 

shareholder value; and 

 making  recommendations to  the  Board on  the  review of  training  and professional 
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development programmes for the Board. 

It is also responsible for determining the independence of Board members in accordance with 

guidelines set out in the Code and the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. In determining whether each 

Director is able to devote sufficient time to discharge his duty, the NC is of the view that its assessment 

should not be restricted to the number of board representations of each Director and his respective 

principal commitments per se. The contributions by Directors to and during meetings of the Board and 

Board Committees as well as their attendance at such meetings in addition to each of their principle 

commitments, should also be taken into account. The NC and the Board will review the number of 

listed company board representations of the Directors on an annual basis or from time to time when 

the need arises. 

The NC is responsible for ensuring that the Board comprises individuals who are able to discharge 

their responsibilities as Directors and identifying suitable candidates for appointment  to the Board. It 

also reviews the capabilities of the nominated candidates, taking into account his/her qualifications 

and experience, before recommending the appointment of the candidates to the Board. 

In accordance with Provision 4.5 of the Code, upon appointment of each Director, the Company will 

provide a formal letter to the Director, setting out his duties and obligations or arrange for a briefing by 

the Company Secretary or the Company’s legal counsel on such Director’s duties and obligations. 

As time  requirements are subjective, the NC recognises that  its assessment of each Director ’s ability  

to discharge his duties adequately should not be confined to the sole criterion of the number of his 

board representations. Thus, it will also take into account contributions by Directors during Board and 

Board Committees meetings and their attendance at such meetings, in addition to each of their 

principal commitments. 

The Constitution of the Company requires one-third of the Board to retire from office at each annual 

general meeting (“AGM”). Accordingly, the Directors submit themselves for re-nomination  and re-

election at regular intervals of at least once every three years pursuant to the Constitution of the 

Company and Rule 720(5) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. In recommending to the Board any 

re-nomination and re-election of existing Directors, the NC takes into consideration factors such as 

participation at Board and Board Committee meetings, the value of the individual to the Board and the 

Company and his continued contribution to the needs of the Company and its business. 

Please refer to the Notice of AGM attached to the Annual Report for Directors proposed for re-election. 

Mr Rajan Ganapathy, Mr Wu Fengji and Mr Heng Aik Yong have expressed their consent to seek re-

election as Directors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM. The NC has recommended their 

nomination for re-election. The Board has accepted the  NC’s recommendation. Mr  Rajan Ganapathy 

and Mr Wu Fengji, being members of the NC, abstained from deliberation and voting in respect of their 

own nomination and assessment. 

Where the need for a new Director arises, the NC will review the spectrum of expertise, skills and 

attributes of the Board based on its existing composition. Subsequently, the NC will identify  the 

Company’s needs and prepare a shortlist of candidates with the appropriate profile for nomination  or 

re-nomination. Where necessary, the NC may seek advice from external search consultants. A newly 

appointed Director will have to submit himself or herself for retirement and election at AGM 

immediately following  his or her appointment and thereafter, be subjected to retirement by rotation. 
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Each member of the NC shall abstain from voting on any resolution with respect to the assessment of 

his performance for re-nomination as a Director. 

Alternate directorships in the Company are not encouraged by the NC. 

Principle 5: Board Performance

There should be a formal assessment of the performance and effectiveness of the Board as a whole, 

that of each of its Board Committees and the contribution by each Director to the effectiveness of the 

Board. 

In accordance with Provisions 5.1 and 5.2 of the Code, the NC is responsible for evaluating the 

effectiveness and performance of the Board as a whole taking into account the complementary nature 

and collective nature of the Directors’ contribution and of each individual Director. A formal review of 

the Board’s performance is undertaken collectively by the Board annually. The performance criteria 

for the Board, the Board Committees and the individual Directors will include an evaluation of the size 

and composition of the Board, the Board’s access to information, accountability, Board processes, 

Board performance in relation to discharging its principal responsibilities, communication with 

Management, corporate integrity, managing the Company’s performance, strategic review, Board 

Committees effectiveness, the Acting CEO’s performance and succession planning, Director 

development and management, risk management and standard of conduct of the Directors. The NC 

also takes factors such as attendance, preparedness, participation and candour at Board meetings 

into consideration. 

During the year, the NC has reviewed and affirmed the independence of the Company’s Independent 

Directors. It has also reviewed the composition of the Board and profiles of Board members in relation 

to the needs of the Company with the objective of achieving a balanced Board in terms of the mix of 

experience and expertise. 

The NC also reviewed whether a Director who has multiple board representations is able to and has 

adequately carried out effectively the duties as a Director. All Directors are required to declare their 

board representations. The NC has reviewed the commitments of Directors with multiple board 

representations and is satisfied that the Directors have and are able to more than adequately carry 

out their duties as Directors of the Company. 

II  REMUNERATION MATTERS 

Principle 6: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on Director and executive 

remuneration and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual Directors and key management 

personnel. No Director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration. 

The RC comprises three members namely Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael (Independent Chairman and 

Lead Independent Director), Mr Rajan Ganapathy (Independent Director) and Mr Wu Fengji (Non-

Independent Non-Executive Director). The Chairman of the RC is Mr Rajan Ganapathy.  In accordance 
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with Provision 6.2 of the Code, the RC comprises at least three directors and all members of the RC 

are non-executive directors, the majority of whom, including the Chairman of the RC, are independent. 

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on 

Director and executive remuneration and for determining the remuneration packages of individual 

Directors and key management executives. 

The RC is also tasked to review the Company’s obligations arising in the event of termination of the 

Executive Director’s and key management executives’ contracts of service, to ensure that such 

contracts contain fair and reasonable termination clauses. 

The RC recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Directors serving on the Board 

and Board Committees and also key management executives. The recommendations of the RC are 

submitted for endorsement by the entire Board. Each member of the RC is to abstain from voting on 

any resolutions and making any recommendations and/or participating  in any deliberations of the RC  

in respect of his/ her remuneration package. As such, no Director is involved in deciding his own 

remuneration. The RC also reviews and administers any share or share-based incentive plan that the 

Company may from time to time have in place. In general, the RC aims to be fair and avoid rewarding 

poor performance. It also ensures that termination clauses in contracts of service are not overly 

generous. 

Although none of the RC members specialize in the area of executive compensation, the RC has 

access to independent professional expert advice on remuneration matters as and when necessary. 

No remuneration consultant was engaged by the Company in FY2019. 

Principle 7: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level and structure of remuneration of the Board and key management personnel should be 

appropriate and proportionate to the sustained performance and value creation of the Company, taking 

into account the strategic objectives of the Company and to attract, retain and motivate the directors 

needed to run the Company successfully. However, companies should avoid paying more than is 

necessary for this purpose.  

In accordance with Provision 7.1 of the Code, a significant proportion of Executive Directors’ 

remuneration should be structured so as to link rewards to corporate and individual performance. 

In accordance with Provision 7.2 of the Code, the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors will be 

appropriate to the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort and time spent, and 

their responsibilities. 

In setting remuneration packages, the RC will take into consideration the pay and employment 

conditions within the industry and in comparable companies with the view to reward successful 

performance and attract, retain and motivate Directors and employees to successfully manage the 

Company for the long term in accordance with Provision 7.3 of the Code. 

The Acting CEO’s remuneration comprised essentially base salary, with allowance and benefits 

added, where appropriate. Discretionary bonus may be paid based upon delivering performance in 
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accordance with a set of key performance indicators determined by the Board on the recommendation 

of the RC. No salary has been paid and no bonus has been accrued in respect of FY2020. 

Principle 8: Disclosure of Remuneration

Each company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policy, level and mix of 

remuneration, and the procedure for setting remuneration in the Company’s annual report. It should 

provide disclosure in relation to its remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link 

between remuneration paid to Directors and key executives, performance and value creation. 

The Group’s remuneration policy aims to provide competitive compensation packages to reward 

performance and attract, retain and motivate Directors and employees to successfully manage the 

Company for the long term. 

In reviewing the remuneration of Directors, the Board considers the Company’s performance, the 

responsibilities and performance of Directors as well as pay conditions within the industry and 

comparable companies. The fees payable to  Non–Executive Directors reflect the scope and extent of  

the Director ’s responsibilities and obligations, based on a remuneration framework comprising a base 

fee and additional fees based for their appointment and roles in the respective Board Committees. 

Such fees are recommended as a lump sum payment for approval by shareholders at the AGM of the 

Company. No Director is involved in deciding his own remuneration. 

Remuneration for the Acting CEO is formulated and reviewed by the RC. The remuneration package 

is intended to be competitive and to motivate the Acting CEO to achieve the Company’s goals which 

should be aligned with shareholders’ interests. The Acting CEO has a fixed term service contract. The 

RC will, when renewing the service contract, take into consideration Principle 8 of the Code. 

Details of the remuneration of the Directors of the Company paid or payable for FY2020 are set out 

below: 

Salary Directors’ Fees Bonus Allowances 

and Other 

Benefits 

Share 

Options 

Share Based 

Incentives 

Other Long-

Term 

Incentive 

Total 

Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% 

US$250,000 

and below 

Executive 

Director 

Heng Aik 

Yong 

- - 26,976 100 - - - - - - - - - - 26,976 100 
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Non-

Executive 

Directors 

Chan Wai 

Kwong 

Michael 

- - 27,771 100 - - - - - - - - - - 27,771 100 

Rajan 

Ganapathy 

- - 14,180 100 - - - - - - - - - - 14,180 100 

Wu Fengji - - 0 100 - - - - - - - - - - 0 100 

Koh How 

Thim 

- - 24,847 100 - - - - - - - - - - 24,847 100 

Details of the remuneration of the key management executives of the Company paid or payable for 

FY2020 are set out below: 

Salary Key 

Management 

Executive’s 

Fees 

Bonus Allowances 

and Other 

Benefits 

Share Options Share Based 

Incentives 

Other Long-

Term Incentive 

Total

Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

% Amount 

(US$) 

%

Key 

Management 

Executive 

Brandon 

Soon 

57,002 86 - - - - 8,945 14 - - - - - - 65,947 100

In determining the remuneration package of key management executives, the RC takes into 

consideration their performance and value–add to the Group, giving due regard to the financial health 

and business needs of the Group. 

The Company has one Executive Director and one key management executive: its Acting CEO, Mr 

Heng Aik Yong, and its Financial Controller, Mr Brandon Soon. 

The aggregate amount of termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted 

to the Directors, the Acting CEO and the top five key management executives (who are not Directors) 

is US$159,721. 

There is no employee of the Company and its subsidiary who is a substantial shareholder, or who is 

an immediate family member of any Director, the Independent Chairman, the Acting CEO or a 

substantial shareholder and whose remuneration exceeds S$100,000 during the FY2020. 

As matters have been made in this Report, the Board is of the opinion that a separate remuneration 

report will not be necessary. 
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III  ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT 

Accountability

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s 

performance, position and prospects. 

The Board is accountable to the shareholders and is mindful of its obligations to furnish timely 

information and to ensure full disclosure of material information to shareholders in compliance with 

statutory requirements and the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 

The Board aims to provide shareholders with a balanced and understandable assessment of the 

Company’s and Group’s performance, position and prospects when presenting the annual financial 

statements, announcements of financial results, material transactions and other  matters relating  to  

the Group. This responsibility extends to interim and price sensitive public reports and reports to 

regulators, where required. Financial results and annual reports are announced or issued within the 

legally prescribed periods. 

Management is accountable to the Board. Management currently provides periodic financial reports 

to the Board and updates the Board regularly on the business operations of the Group. 

Principle 9: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management 

maintains a sound system of risk management and internal controls to  safeguard shareholders’ 

interests and the Company’s assets, and should determine the nature and extent of the significant 

risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving its strategic objectives and value creation. 

The Board is responsible for ensuring that Management maintains a sound system of internal controls 

to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the Company’s assets. 

The Company further notes that the Group’s operations and business practices should be audited or 

reviewed periodically to provide reasonable assurance that internal controls established and 

maintained by Management are operating effectively. Material non-compliance and internal control 

weakness noted during such audit or review should be reported to the AC together with 

recommendations (including recommendations by the Company’s external auditors) to address such 

non-compliance or weakness. Whilst the Company has in the past engaged third-party internal 

auditors to carry out the aforesaid audit or review, after the reconstitution and separation process that 

the Company undertook, the scale and complexity of the current operations of the Group as well as 

the corporate structure of the Group have been greatly simplified. It was determined that for the current 

financial year the process of internal audit would be best satisfied by the appointment of one of the 

Company’s directors (namely, Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael, the Independent Chairman and Lead 

Independent Director) to carry out the internal audit function. 

The Company does not have a Risk Management Committee. However, Management is expected to 

regularly review the Group’s business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business 

risks as well as appropriate measures to control and mitigate these risks. The Management is further 
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expected to review all significant control policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters 

to the Board and the AC. 

While  no  system can provide  absolute assurance against material  loss or  financial misstatement, 

the Group’s internal controls and systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the 

integrity  and reliability of the financial information  and to safeguard and maintain accountability of its 

assets. The Board’s internal controls include approval limits for expenditure, investments and 

divestments and cheque signatory arrangements. 

Audit findings and recommendations by the Company’s external auditors arising from the audit 

conducted by them were promptly addressed and whenever possible resolved by Management. 

Based on the foregoing, and with the concurrence of the AC, it is the opinion of the Board that there 

are adequate and effective controls to address financial, operational, information  technology and 

compliance risks of the Group within its current business and operating environments. For the 

purposes of compliance with  Provision 9.2 of the Code, the Board has obtained  assurance from  the 

Acting  CEO and Independent  Chairman, as well as the Financial Controller,  that the Group’s financial 

records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 

Company’s operations and finances, and an adequate and effective risk management and internal 

controls system has been put in place. The current risk management and internal controls systems 

are working effectively given the scale of operations. Both systems are subjected to constant review 

by the Management, the AC Chairman and the external Auditor with oversight by the Board. 

Principle 10: Audit Committee

The Board should establish an AC which discharges its duties objectively and with written terms of 

reference which clearly set out its authority and duties.  

The AC currently comprises three members namely, Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael (Independent 

Chairman and Lead Independent Director), Mr Rajan Ganapathy (Independent Director) and Mr Wu 

Fengji (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director). Mr Chan Wai Kwong Michael is Chairman of the 

AC. In accordance with Provision 10.2 of the Code, the AC comprises at least three directors, all of 

whom are non-executive and the majority of whom, including the Chairman of the AC, are 

independent. At least one member, including the AC Chairman, have recent and relevant accounting 

or related financial management expertise or experience.  

In accordance with Provision 10.3 of the Code, the AC does not comprise former partners or directors 

of the Company’s existing auditing firm, Foo Kon Tan LLP, within a period of two years commencing 

on the date of their ceasing to be a partner or director of the auditing firm and, in any case, for as long 

as they have any financial interest in the auditing firm. 

When appointing members to the AC, the Company observes closely Provisions 10.2 and 10.3 of the 

Code. 

The AC’s scope of authority is formalized in its terms of reference, which include the statutory functions 

of an AC as prescribed under the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (“Companies Act”) and 

applicable listing rules of the SGX-ST. The Board is of the view that the AC members have the 

appropriate experience and qualifications to discharge their responsibilities effectively. 
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The responsibilities of the AC include: 

 reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements to ensure the 

integrity of the Company’s financial statements/announcements relating to the 

Company’s financial performance; 

 reviewing and reporting to the Board annually the adequacy and effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal controls and risk management systems, including financial, 

operational, compliance and information technology controls; 

 reviewing the assurance from the Acting CEO, Independent Chairman and Financial 

Controller on the financial records and financial statements; 

 reviewing with the external auditors their annual audit plan, findings and their 

recommendation to Management as well as Management’s responses; their 

evaluation of the system of internal accounting controls and their audit report; 

 reviewing the adequacy, effectiveness, independence, scope and results of the 

external audit and the internal audit procedures; the assistance given by Management 

to the external and internal auditors; and any formal announcements relating to the 

financial performance of the Company and the Group prior to their submission to the 

Board; 

 recommending the appointment or re–appointment of the external and internal 

auditors, taking into account the scope and results of the audit and its cost 

effectiveness and the independence of the external and internal auditors; and 

 reviewing the policy and arrangements for concerns about possible improprieties in 

financial reporting or other matters to be safely raised, independently investigated and 

appropriately followed up on. 

In performing its functions, the AC has full authority to investigate matters within its terms of reference. 

Since 2006 and on the recommendation of the AC which was approved by the Board, the Company 

has put in place a whistle-blowing framework whereby concerns of possible improprieties in matters 

of financial reporting or other matters may be raised in confidence to the AC. These arrangements 

were effected to ensure independent investigation of such matters and appropriate follow-up. 

The AC met 4 times during  the year. For FY2020, there was a 100% attendance record by its 

members. Invitations are also extended to other Board members and Management to attend AC 

meetings. The AC has full access to both the internal and external auditors and vice versa. During the 

year, the AC has met with the external auditors without the presence of Management and has reviewed 

the overall scopes of both the internal and external audits in accordance with Provision 10.5. 

The AC also has unrestricted access to the Management and has the full discretion to invite other 

Directors (including the Acting CEO) or any executives to its meetings. It also has access to adequate 

resources to enable it to discharge its responsibilities properly. 

The AC reviews the independence of  the external auditors annually. During the year under review,  
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the aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors, Foo Kon Tan LLP (“FKT”), amounted to 

S$48,150 with the fees paid for its provision of audit services amounting to S$48,150. There were no 

fees paid for provision of non-audit services. The AC, having reviewed the range and value of non-

audit services performed by the external auditors, FKT, is satisfied that the nature and extent of such 

services will not prejudice the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. The AC has 

recommended that FKT be nominated for re-appointment as auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

FKT is an audit firm registered with the Singapore Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority.  

The AC and the Board are satisfied that the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Company 

would not be compromised in compliance with Rule 712 and 715 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-

ST. FKT is also the auditor of the Company’s subsidiary, Garnet 9 Carriers Pte. Ltd. 

The AC also reviewed the adequacy of the whistle blower arrangements instituted by the Group 

through which staff and external parties may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible 

improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. 

The Company encourages the members of the AC to attend relevant seminars and training to keep 

abreast of changes to accounting standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial 

statements. Where necessary, the Company’s Auditors are asked to provide the relevant updates. 

Internal Audit

The Company should establish an internal audit function that is independent of the activities it audits. 

The function  of the Internal Audit  (“IA”) is to  provide objective opinions  and assurances to  the AC 

and Management as to the adequacy of the internal control processes, identify business, financial and 

operational risks and to recommend the formulation of policies and plans for effective compliance 

control. 

After the reconstitution and separation process that the Company undertook, the scale and complexity 

of the current operations of the Group have been greatly simplified. Due to the minimal transactions 

and simplified corporate structure, it was determined that for the current financial year the process of 

internal audit would be best satisfied by the appointment of one of the Company’s Directors to carry 

out the internal audit function. In this regard, the Company appointed the AC Chairman to specifically 

perform this role. He has been given full access to all company financial and operational information  

and documents and has also been provided full access to previous third-party  internal audit reports 

and processes. He has drawn up internal audit plans and will assess the adequacy of the Company’s 

control processes with the aim of assessing risk and compliance levels associated with  each process. 

As the Company now moves toward  its re-growth  in business and associated complexity, the Board 

will consider the appointment of a third party internal auditor. Provision 10.4 of the Code will be 

observed in doing so. 
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IV  SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES 

Principle 11: Shareholder Rights and Conduct of General Meetings 

The Company should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably in order to enable them to exercise 

shareholders’ rights and have the opportunity to communicate their views on matters affecting the 

Company. The Company gives shareholders a balanced and understandable assessment of its 

performance, position and prospects. Companies should  encourage greater  shareholder participation  

at  AGMs, and  allow  shareholders the opportunity  to communicate their views on various matters 

affecting the Company. 

The Company’s main forum for dialogue with shareholders takes place at its AGM, where the members 

of the Board, senior Management and the external auditors are in attendance in accordance with 

Provision 11.3 of the Code. For the financial year ended 31 March 2019, all the members of the Board, 

including the chairpersons of the AC, NC and RC and the external auditors attended the AGM of the 

Company (being the sole general meeting of the Company). Shareholders are encouraged to attend 

the AGM and other general meetings and the Company welcomes questions from shareholders.  

In accordance with Provision 11.1 of the Code, the Company provides shareholders with the 

opportunity to participate effectively in and vote at general meetings of shareholders and informs them 

of the rules governing general meetings of shareholders. In accordance with Provision 11.4 of the 

Code, the Company’s Constitution  allow a shareholder entitled  to attend and vote to appoint  two 

proxies who need not be a shareholder to attend and vote on his/her behalf at general meetings.  

In accordance with Provision 11.2 of the Code, resolutions requiring shareholders’ approval are tabled  

separately for  adoption  at  general meetings unless the matters for consideration are closely related 

and would more appropriately be considered together. Where the resolutions are “bundled”, the 

Company will explain the reasons and material implications in the notice of meeting. Items of special 

business to be transacted at general meetings are accompanied, where required, by an explanation 

for the proposed resolution. 

To have greater transparency in the voting process, the Company has adopted the voting of all its 

resolutions by poll at its general meetings. The detailed voting results of each of the resolutions tabled 

will be announced immediately at the meeting. The total numbers of votes cast for or against the 

resolutions will be also announced after the meeting via SGXNET. 

All shareholders are sent the Annual Report together with the notice of the AGM. The notice of AGM, 

which sets out the items of business to be transacted at the AGM, is also advertised in a mass 

circulated newspaper. 

Minutes of general meetings that include substantial and relevant comments or queries from 

shareholders relating to the agenda of the meetings and responses from the Board and the 

Management are prepared. At present, these minutes are not published on the Company’s website. 

This is a deviation from Provision 11.5 of the Code. However, shareholders may request for copies to 

be provided to them. The Company will publish these minutes on the Company’s website in the future 

to comply with Provision 11.5 of the Code.
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The Company has no official policy on the payment of dividends, and the amount of dividends paid 

each year will depend on factors that include the Group’s profit level, cash position and future cash 

needs. 

Principle 12: Engagement with Shareholders

Companies should communicate regularly with its shareholders and facilitate the participation of 

shareholders during general meetings and other dialogues to allow shareholders to communicate their 

views on various matters affecting the Company. Companies should actively engage their 

shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to promote regular, effective and fair 

communication with shareholders. 

In  accordance with  the  Company’s continuing  disclosure obligations  pursuant  to  the  SGX-ST  

Listing Manual and the Companies Act, the Company strives to ensure that shareholders are informed 

of all major developments that may have a material impact on the Group on an adequate and timely 

basis. In disclosing information,  the Company seeks to ensure such disclosure is as descriptive, 

detailed and forthcoming  as possible, avoiding boilerplate disclosures. 

The Company communicates information to shareholders through announcements released to the 

SGX-ST via SGXNET. Such announcements include its yearly and quarterly financial results, material 

transactions and other developments relating to the Group requiring disclosure under the corporate 

disclosure policy of the SGX-ST. As part of its investor relations policy, the Company maintains a 

website (www.jasperinvests.com) where the public can access information  on the Group, including 

where shareholders may contact the Company with questions and through which the Company may 

respond to such questions. 

V  ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

Dealing in Securities 

The Company has adopted a policy on dealings in the securities of the Company applicable to its 

Directors and employees. The policy is modeled on the Best Practices Guide in the SGX-ST Listing 

Manual. Under this policy, Directors and employees are prohibited from dealing in the Company’s 

Shares during the period beginning one month before and ending on the date of the release of the full 

year results as well as two weeks before and ending on the date of the release of the quarterly results. 

Directors and employees are expected to comply with and observe the insider trading laws at all times 

even when dealing in the Company’s securities outside the prohibited periods. They are discouraged 

from dealing in the Company’s securities on short-term considerations. 

Interested Person Transactions 

For the financial year under review, there were neither any interested person transactions (“IPT”) 

conducted under the IPT general mandate nor any interested person transactions of S$100,000 or 

above.   
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Material Contracts

There were no material contracts entered into by the Company or any of its subsidiaries involving the 

interests of the Acting CEO, any Director or controlling shareholder. 
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DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS SEEKING RE-ELECTION 

Mr Rajan Ganapathy, Mr Wu Fengji and Mr Heng Aik Yong are the Directors seeking re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company to 

be convened on 22 September 2020 (collectively, the “Retiring Directors” and each a “Retiring Director”). 

Pursuant to Rule 720(6) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST, the following is the information relating to the Retiring Directors as set out in 

Appendix 7.4.1 to the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST:  

Mr Rajan Ganapathy Mr Wu Fengji Mr Heng Aik Yong
Date of Appointment 5 September 2019 1 June 2020 1 January 2018
Date of last re-appointment - - 26 July 2018 
Age 51 36 65 
Country of principal residence Malaysia Singapore Singapore
The Board’s comments on this 
appointment (including 
rationale, selection criteria, 
and the search and 
nomination process) 

The Company is required under 
the Rules of the Listing Manual of 
the SGX-ST to have a minimum of 
three members on the Audit 
Committee as well as to fulfill the 
recommendations of the Code 
with regard to the composition of 
the Nominating Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee. 

The re-election of Mr Rajan 
Ganapathy as an Independent 
Director of the Company was 
recommended by the NC and the 
Board has accepted the 
recommendation, after taking into 
consideration the credentials, 
experience and qualifications of 
Mr. Ganapathy as well as the 
benefits of having an Independent 
and Non-Executive Director who 
has the requisite experience and 
expertise in the areas of internal 
audit and internal controls, and at 
the recommendation of the NC, 

The re-election of Mr Wu Fengji as 
an Independent Director of the 
Company was recommended by the 
NC and the Board has accepted the 
recommendation. The NC and the 
Board have reviewed, assessed and 
concluded that Mr Wu possesses the 
requisite experiences, qualifications, 
skill sets and competencies to be the 
Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director of the Company. 

Mr Wu is to be considered as non-
independent for the purpose of Rule 
704(8) of the Listing Manual of the 
SGX-ST. 

The re-election of Mr Heng Aik 
Yong as Executive Director and 
Acting CEO of the Company was 
recommended by the NC and the 
Board has accepted the 
recommendation. The NC and 
the Board have reviewed, 
assessed and concluded that Mr 
Heng possesses the requisite 
experiences, qualifications, skill 
sets and competencies to be the 
Executive Director and Acting 
CEO of the Company. 

Mr Heng is considered as non-
independent for the purpose of 
Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual 
of the SGX-ST. 



26 

Mr Rajan Ganapathy Mr Wu Fengji Mr Heng Aik Yong
the Board is satisfied that Mr. 
Ganapathy possesses the 
requisite competencies and 
experience to assume 
responsibilities as an Independent 
Non-Executive Director of the 
Company. 

Whether appointment is 
executive, and if so, the area 
of responsibility 

Non-Executive Non-Executive Executive. Mr Heng will be 
responsible for overseeing the 
day-to-day operations of the 
Company and its subsidiary, 
Garnet 9 Carriers Pte. Ltd. 

Job Title (e.g. Lead ID, AC 
Chairman, AC Member, etc.) 

Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

Member of the Audit Committee  

Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee

Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director 

Member of the Audit Committee, 
Nominating Committee and 
Remuneration Committee  

Executive Director and Acting 
Chief Executive Officer 

Professional qualifications - BEng (Hons) in Naval Architecture 
with Marine Engineering 

Masters of Business 
Administration for Executive 
Management 

Any     relationship     (including 
immediate family 
relationships) with any existing 
director, existing executive 
officer,  the  issuer and/ or 
substantial shareholder of the 
listed issuer or of any of its 
principal subsidiaries

Nil Nil Nil 

Conflict of  Interests (including  
any competing business) 

Nil Mr Wu is a director and shareholder 
of Barten Construction & Trading 
Pte. Ltd. and its group of companies 
as well as Wing Seng Company 
Limited which are counter parties to 
certain collaboration and project 
management agreements that the 
Company is a party to. Should any 

Nil 
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Mr Rajan Ganapathy Mr Wu Fengji Mr Heng Aik Yong
conflict of interests or potential 
conflict of interests arise in 
connection with any agreements 
entered into with any of such entities 
in which Mr Wu is interested, the 
Board will ensure that Mr Wu 
recuses from participating in any 
discussions or decision-making 
concerning such agreements and 
matters relating to the same.

Working       experience      and 
occupation(s) during the past 
10 years 

June 2009 to August 2009: Legal 
Intern in California Department of 
Corporations, Office of Legislation 
& Policy 

December 2010 to Present: Chief 
Internal Auditor for Mizuho Bank 
(Malaysia) Berhad, Internal Audit 
Department 

1. Director – Barten Construction & 
Trading Pte. Ltd. 
- Incorporated in 2017 
- Engaging in stevedoring operations 
- Supplier of Basic Construction 
Materials, i.e. River Sand, Sea Sand, 
Coarse & Fine Aggregates 

2. Director – Barten Marine Co. Pte. 
Ltd., formally known as Seven Seas 
Marine Services Pte Ltd 
- Incorporated in 2012 
- Provide marine operations support 
and cargo survey services 
- Project Implementation, 
Coordination and Liaising with 
Stakeholders 
- Shipbroker and Charterer of Tug & 
Barges, Bulk Carriers 

3. Director – Wing Seng Company 
Ltd. 

Period: 2017 – current 
Adviser, Solcofin Pte. Ltd. 

Period: January 2009 – 
December 2011 
Executive Director – Business 
Developments & Overseas 
Liaison Director, PT Waterland 
International 

Period: January 2009 – 
December 2011  
President Director, PT Waterland 
Agro 

Undertaking (in the format set 
out in Appendix 7.7) under 
Rule 720(1) has been 
submitted to the listed issuer 

Yes Yes Yes 

Shareholding interest in the 
listed issuer and its 
subsidiaries 

No No No 
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Mr Rajan Ganapathy Mr Wu Fengji Mr Heng Aik Yong
Other Principal Commitments* Including Directorships#
Past (for the last 5 years) Nil Nil Nil 
Present Nil 1. Director – Barten Construction & 

Trading Pte. Ltd. 

2. Director – Barten Marine Co. Pte. 
Ltd. 

3. Director – Wing Seng Company 
Ltd.

Garnet 9 Carriers Pte. Ltd. 

Disclose the following matters concerning an appointment of director, chief executive officer, chief financial officer, chief operating 
officer, general manager or other officer of equivalent rank. If the answer to any question is “yes”, full details must be given.
a) Whether     at     any    
time during the last 10 years, 
an application or a petition 
under any bankruptcy law of 
any jurisdiction  was filed  
against him or against a 
partnership of  which  he  was 
a  partner at the time when he 
was a partner or at any time 
within 2 years from the date he 
ceased to be a partner?

No No No 

(b) Whether     at     any    
time during the last 10 years, 
an application or a petition 
under any law of any 
jurisdiction was filed against 
an entity (not   being   a  
partnership) of  which  he  was 
a  director or  an  equivalent  
person  or a key executive, at 
the  time when  he  was a  
director  or an  equivalent  
person  or  a key executive of  
that  entity or at any time within 
2 years from  the  date  he 
ceased to be a director or an 
equivalent person or a key 

No No No 
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executive of that entity, for the 
winding up or dissolution of 
that entity or, where that entity 
is the trustee of a business 
trust, that business trust, on 
the ground of insolvency?
(c) Whether    there    is    
any unsatisfied judgment 
against him?

No No No 

(d) Whether  he  has ever  
been convicted   of   any  
offence, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, involving fraud or 
dishonesty which is 
punishable with imprisonment, 
or has been the subject of any 
criminal proceedings 
(including any pending 
criminal proceedings of which 
he is aware) for such purpose?

No No No 

(e) Whether  he  has ever  
been convicted   of   any  
offence, in Singapore or 
elsewhere, involving a breach 
of any law or   regulatory   
requirement that relates to the 
securities or futures industry in 
Singapore or  elsewhere, or  
has  been the subject of any 
criminal proceedings 
(including any pending 
criminal proceedings of which 
he is aware) for such breach?

No No No 

(f)      Whether at any time  
during the last 10 years, 
judgment has  been  entered   
against him  in any civil 
proceedings in Singapore or 
elsewhere involving a breach 
of any law or   regulatory   

No No No 
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requirement that relates to the 
securities or futures industry in 
Singapore or  elsewhere, or a 
finding of fraud,  
misrepresentation or  
dishonesty  on  his  part, or  he  
has been the  subject of any 
civil proceedings (including 
any pending civil proceedings 
of which he is aware) involving 
an allegation of fraud, 
misrepresentation or 
dishonesty on his part? 
(g) Whether  he  has ever  
been convicted in Singapore 
or elsewhere of  any offence  in 
connection with the formation 
or management of any entity 
or business trust?

No No No 

(h) Whether  he  has ever  
been disqualified  from  acting  
as a director or an equivalent 
person of any entity (including 
the trustee of a business trust), 
or from taking part directly or 
indirectly in the management 
of any entity or business trust?

No No No 

i) Whether he has ever 
been the subject of any order, 
judgment or ruling of any 
court, tribunal or governmental
body, permanently or 
temporarily enjoining him from 
engaging in any type of 
business practice or activity? 

No No No 

(j)      Whether he has ever, to 
his knowledge, been 
concerned with the 
management or conduct, in 

No No No 
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Singapore or elsewhere, of the 
affairs of: – 

i.         any corporation  which 
has been investigated for   a  
breach  of   any law or 
regulatory requirement  
governing corporations in 
Singapore or elsewhere; or 

ii. any entity (not being a 
corporation) which has been  
investigated  for a breach of 
any law or regulatory 
requirement governing such 
entities in Singapore or 
elsewhere; or 

iii. any    business   trust 
which has been investigated 
for a breach of any law or 
regulatory requirement 
governing business trusts in 
Singapore or elsewhere; or 

iv.      any entity or business 
trust which has been 
investigated for a breach of 
any law or regulatory 
requirement that relates to the 
securities or futures industry in 
Singapore or elsewhere 

in connection with any matter 
occurring or arising during that  
period  when he was so 
concerned with the entity or 
business trust?
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k)     Whether he has been the 
subject of any current or past 
investigation or disciplinary 
proceedings, or has been 
reprimanded or issued any 
warning,  by the Monetary 
Authority of Singapore or any 
other   regulator y  authority, 
exchange, professional body 
or government agency, 
whether in Singapore or 
elsewhere?

No No No 

Disclosure applicable to the appointment of Director only
Any prior experience as a 
director of a listed company? 

If yes, please provide details of 
prior experience. 

If  no, please state if  the 
director has attended or will be 
attending training on the roles 
and responsibilities of a 
director of a listed issuer as 
prescribed by the Exchange. 

Please provide  details  of  
relevant experience and the 
nominating committee’s 
reasons for not requiring the 
director to undergo training as 
prescribed by the Exchange (if 
applicable).

No. 

Mr. Ganapathy has been briefed 
by the legal counsel engaged by 
the Company on his duties and 
responsibilities as an Independent 
and Non-Executive Director of a 
Singapore incorporated company 
listed on the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited. 

In addition, Mr. Ganapathy had 
registered for the October 2019 
sessions of the Listed Entity 
Director (LED) Programme run by 
the Singapore Institute of 
Directors.  

No 

Mr. Wu has been briefed by the legal 
counsel engaged by the Company on 
his duties and responsibilities as a 
Non-Independent and Non-Executive 
Director of a Singapore incorporated 
company listed on the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited. 

In addition, Mr. Wu had registered for 
the July 2020 sessions of the Listed 
Entity Director (LED) Programme run 
by the Singapore Institute of 
Directors. 

Yes 

Mr Heng Aik Yong is presently 
already a director of the 
Company. 
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Directors' statement  
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020  

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) submit this statement to the members together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position of the Company for the 
financial year ended 31 March 2020. 

1. OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS 

In the opinion of the directors, 

(a) the accompanying financial statements are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2020 and the financial 
performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended on 
that date in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (International) (“SFRS(I)s”); and 

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

2. DIRECTORS 

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this statement are: 

Heng Aik Yong - Executive Director 
Chan Wai Kwong Michael 
Rajan Ganapathy (Appointed on 5 September 2019) 
Wu Fengji (Appointed on 1 June 2020) 

3. ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR 
DEBENTURES 

During and at the end of the financial year, neither the Company nor its subsidiary was a party to any 
arrangement of which the object was to enable the Directors to acquire benefits through the 
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any other corporate body, other than as 
disclosed in this statement. 

4. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES 

(i) According to the Register of Directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 
of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, none of the Directors who held office at the end of the financial 
year had any interest in the shares, debentures or options of the Company or its related 
corporations, except as follows: 
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4. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES (CONT’D) 

Holdings in the name of the director

Jasper Investments Limited As at As at
Ordinary Shares 1.4.2019 31.3.2020 

Chan Wai Kwong Michael           3,000,000 3,000,000

There are no changes in the above shareholdings as at 30 April 2020. 

5. SHARE PLANS 

(a) Jasper Share Option Plan and Jasper Share Incentive Plan 

The Company’s share option plan (“Share Option Plan”) and share incentive plan (“Share Incentive 
Plan”) (collectively referred to as the “Share Plans”) were approved and adopted by shareholders at 
an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 30 July 2009. 

The Remuneration Committee (the “RC”) of the Company is responsible for administering the 
Share Plans. As at the date of this report, the RC comprises the following members: 

Rajan Ganapathy - Chairman (Independent Director) (Appointed on 5 September 2019)

Chan Wai Kwong Michael  - Member (Independent Director)
Wu Fengji - Member (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) (Appointed 
                                              on 1 June 2020) 

The Share Option Plan provides an opportunity to employees of the Group to participate in the 
equity of the Company so as to motivate them, and to give recognition to non-executive directors, 
employees of the Company and its subsidiary who have contributed to the success of the Company 
and/or the Group.  

The Share Incentive Plan is a performance-cum-incentive scheme for employees of the Company 
and its subsidiary (including non-executive Directors of the Company). The Share Incentive Plan is 
based on a principle of pay-for-performance and is designed to reward, retain and motivate Group 
employees. 

Subject to the prevailing legislation and the rules of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), the Company will have the flexibility to deliver ordinary 
shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) to participants upon exercise of their options or, as 
the case may be, the vesting of their awards by way of: 

(a) an issue of new Shares; and/or  

(b) the delivery of existing Shares. 

The aggregate number of new Shares which may be issued pursuant to options granted under the 
Share Option Plan on any date, when added to the number of new Shares issued and issuable in 
respect of all awards granted under the Share Incentive Plan, shall not exceed 15% of the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury shares) on the day preceding that date. 

The Share Plans shall continue in effect, at the discretion of the RC, up to (and including) 29 July 
2019, provided always that the Share Plans may continue beyond the above stipulated period with 
the approval of shareholders in general meeting and of any relevant authorities which may then be 
required. Notwithstanding the expiry or termination of the Share Plans, any options granted and/or 
awards made to participants prior to such expiry or termination will continue to remain valid. 
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5. SHARE PLANS 

(a) Jasper Share Option Plan and Jasper Share Incentive Plan 

However, the Board has no intention to allot or issue any options or shares under the Share Plans 
and will let the Share Plans lapse upon expiry. 

(b) Other information regarding the Share Option Plan is as follows:  

An option granted pursuant to the Share Option Plan represents a right to acquire the Shares 
which are the subject of such option at the acquisition price per Share (“Exercise Price”) applicable 
thereto. The selection of a participant and the number of Shares comprised in options to be 
offered to such participant in accordance with the Share Option Plan shall be determined at the 
absolute discretion of the RC, who shall take into account criteria such as his rank, job 
performance, years of service, potential for future development and his contribution to the success 
and development of the Group. 

The Exercise Price payable for each of the Shares which is the subject of an option may be fixed 
(i) at the market price of a Share; (ii) at a premium to the market price of a Share; (iii) at the market 
price of a Share, but which may be adjusted (after the expiry of an incentive period) by a discount 
of up to 20% of the market price of a Share; and/or (iv) at a discount (up-front) of up to 20% of 
the market price of a Share.  

In general, an option may be exercised by a participant, in whole or in part, during the exercise 
period applicable to such option subject to any conditions (including any vesting schedule) that 
may be imposed by the RC in relation to the vesting of any Shares comprised in that option.   

(c) Unissued Shares under Options  

There were no options granted under the Share Option Plan during the financial year ended 
31 March 2020. The options granted by the Company do not entitle the holders of the options, 
by virtue of such holdings, to any right to participate in any share issue of any other company. No 
options were granted during the financial year to take up unissued shares of the Company. 

The aggregate number of options granted since the commencement of the Share Option Plan to 
the end of the financial year is 33,000,000. The options were previously granted to former directors 
of the Company and former employees of the Group. These options had been cancelled.  

(d) Other information regarding the Share Incentive Plan is as follows:  

Under the Share Incentive Plan, awards are granted to eligible participants. Awards represent the 
right of a participant to receive fully paid Shares, their equivalent cash value or combinations 
thereof, free of charge, provided that certain prescribed performance targets (if any) are met and 
upon expiry of the prescribed vesting periods (where applicable). Participants are not required to 
pay for the grant of awards. 

The selection of a participant and the number of Shares which are the subject of each award to be 
granted to a participant in accordance with the Share Incentive Plan shall be determined at the 
absolute discretion of the RC, which shall take into account criteria such as his rank, job 
performance, years of service and potential for future development, his contribution to the success 
and development of the Group and, if applicable, the difficulty with which the performance 
target(s) may be achieved within the performance period. 
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5. SHARE PLANS (CONT’D)

(e) Awards under the Share Incentive Plan  

During the financial year, no ordinary shares in the Company were allotted and issued to 
participants of the Share Incentive Plan.  

No participants (including Directors of the Company) have been granted options pursuant to the 
Share Option Plan and/or have received new Shares awarded under the Share Incentive Plan, 
which, in aggregate, represent 5% or more of the aggregate of (1) the total number of new Shares 
available under the Share Option Plan and the Share Incentive Plan collectively; and (2) the total 
number of existing Shares delivered pursuant to the options exercised under the Share Option 
Plan and awards released under the Share Incentive Plan collectively. 

No participant of the Share Option Plan or Share Incentive Plan is a controlling shareholder of 
the Company or its associate (as those terms are defined in the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST). 

6. AUDIT COMMITTEE

At the date of this report, the Audit Committee comprises the following members: 

Chan Wai Kwong Michael  - Chairman (Independent Director) 
Rajan Ganapathy - Member (Independent Director) (Appointed on 5 September 2019) 
Wu Fengji - Member (Non-Independent Non-Executive Director) (Appointed 
                                              on 1 June 2020) 

The Audit Committee performs, amongst others, the functions set out in Section 201B of the 
Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50.  

In performing those functions, the Committee reviews: 

- overall scope of audits and the assistance given by the Company’s offices to the auditors. It 
meets with the Company’s external auditors to discuss the results of their respective 
examinations and their evaluation of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls; 

- the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal 
accounting controls arising from the statutory audit;  

- the quarterly financial information (where applicable) and the statement of financial position 
of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2020 as well as the auditor’s report thereon; and  

- interested person transactions (as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange). 

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board of Directors that the independent auditor 
Foo Kon Tan LLP be nominated for re-appointment as external auditors of the Company at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company. 

In appointing our auditors for the Company and its subsidiary, we have complied with Rules 712 
and 715 of the SGX Listing Manual. 
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7. INDEPENDENT AUDITOR 

The independent auditor, Foo Kon Tan LLP, Chartered Accountants, has expressed its willingness 
to accept re-appointment. 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

CHAN WAI KWONG MICHAEL   RAJAN GANAPATHY 
Director Director 

Dated: 31 August 2020 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of  
Jasper Investments Limited  

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Disclaimer of Opinion  

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of Jasper Investments Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiary (the “Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position of the Group 
and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 March 2020, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

We do not express an opinion on the accompanying financial statements. Because of the significance of 
the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not been able 
to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these financial 
statements. 

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion  

Going concern   

As discussed in Note 2(a) to the financial statements, the Group did not generate any revenue, incurred a 
loss after tax and total comprehensive loss of US$343,000, and reported net operating cash outflows of  
US$165,000 for the financial year ended 31 March 2020. As at 31 March 2020, the Group and the Company 
had a deficit in equity of US$218,000 and US$218,000, and net current liabilities of US$229,000 and 
US$229,000, respectively. The abovementioned conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty 
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as going 
concerns. 

The viability of the Group’s and the Company’s operations to continue as going concerns at least for the 
next twelve months from the date of the financial statements is dependent on positive cash flows from 
operations to be generated from a roll-out of a business plan during the financial year beginning 1 April 
2020. As at the date of this auditor’s report, we are unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the likely outcome of the Group’s ability to generate sufficient cash flows from its operations to 
improve working capital position of the Group. We are therefore unable to form a view as to whether the 
going concern basis of presentation of these financial statements is appropriate. 

If the Group and the Company are unable to continue as a going concern, the Group and the Company 
may be unable to discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business, and adjustments may have to 
be made to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in the normal course of 
business and at amounts which could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently 
recorded in the statements of financial position. In addition, the Group and the Company may have to 
provide for further liabilities that might arise, and may need to reclassify non-current assets as current 
assets, respectively. No such adjustments have been made to the financial statements.  
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of  
Jasper Investments Limited (Cont’d) 

Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Act and SFRS(I)s, and for devising and maintaining a system of 
internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against 
loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements and to maintain 
accountability of assets. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The directors’ responsibilities include overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Company’s financial statements in accordance with 
Singapore Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report. However, because of the matters 
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these financial statements. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority 
(ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities 
(ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the ACRA Code. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

In our opinion, in view of the significance of the matters referred to the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion 
section of our report, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and 
by its subsidiary corporation incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Toh Kim Teck. 

Foo Kon Tan LLP 
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants 

Singapore, 
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Statements of Financial Position  
as at 31 March 2020 

* Amount less than US$1,000.

The Group The Company
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 

2020 2019 2020 2019 
Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

ASSETS
Non-Current 
Subsidiary 3 - - * * 
Deferred tax assets 4 - - - - 
Right-of-use asset 5 11 - 11 - 

11 - 11 - 

Current
Trade and other receivables 6 51 75 50 74 
Amount due from subsidiary 7 - - 4 5 
Bank balances 8 30 203 23 195 

81 278 77 274 
Total assets 92 278 88 274 

EQUITY
Capital and Reserves
Share capital 9 591,721 591,721 591,721 591,721 
Accumulated losses (591,939) (591,596) (591,939) (591,596) 

(218) 125 (218) 125 
Non-controlling interests - - - - 
Total equity (218) 125 (218) 125 

LIABILITIES
Current
Trade and other payables 10 235 153 231 149 
Loan from shareholder 11 64 - 64 - 
Lease liability 12 11 - 11 - 

310 153 306 149 
Total liabilities 310 153 306 149 
Total equity and liabilities 92 278 88 274 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income   
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 

2020 2019 
Note US$’000 US$’000 

Revenue - -
Cost of sales - (11)
Gross loss - (11)
Administrative expenses (362) (452)
Finance costs (1) (14)
Other income 13 20 -
Other expenses 14 - (203)
Loss before taxation  15 (343) (680)
Tax expense 16 - (31)
Loss after taxation for the year (343) (711)
Other comprehensive income after tax - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (343) (711)

Cents Cents 
Loss per share 17 

Attributable to owners of the Company
Basic and diluted loss per share (0.0079) (0.0166) 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 

Share Accumulated Total 
capital losses Total equity 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

At 1 April 2018 590,928 (590,885) 43 43 
Transactions with owners,

directly recognised in equity
Contributions by and distributions to owners
Issuance of ordinary shares  793 - 793 793 
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year  - (711) (711) (711) 
Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - - 

- (711) (711) (711) 
At 31 March 2019 591,721 (591,596) 125 125
Transactions with owners,

directly recognised in equity
Total comprehensive loss for the year
Loss for the year  - (343) (343) (343)
Other comprehensive income for the year  - - - -

- (343) (343) (343)
At 31 March 2020 591,721 (591,939) (218) (218)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 

2020 2019 
US$’000 US$’000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Loss before taxation (343) (680) 
Adjustments for: 
  Depreciation of right-of-use asset  25 - 
  Impairment loss on prepayment  - 200 
  Interest income - * 
  Interest expense 1 14 
  Unrealised foreign exchange (2) - 
Operating loss before working capital changes (319) (466) 
Change in operating receivables 21  6  
Change in operating payables 92  8  
Cash used in operations (206)  (452) 
Income taxes recovered -  16  
Net cash used in operating activities (206)  (436) 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Interest received - * 
Loan from shareholder 66 - 
Net cash generated from investing activities 66 * 

Cash Flows from Financing Activity
Repayment of lease liability (25) - 
Net cash used in financing activity (25) - 

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (165) (436) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  203 646 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (8) (7) 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 8) 30 203 

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 

-----------Cash flows----------
- 

------Non-cash flows------

Foreign 
1 April Interest exchange 31 March

2019 Proceeds Repayment payable movement 2020
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Loan from shareholder - 66 - 1 (3) 64
Lease liability 36 - (25) * * 11

*Amount less than US$1,000. 
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 

1 General information 

The financial statements of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 were authorised 
for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on the date of the Directors’ statement. 

The Company is incorporated as a limited liability company domiciled in Singapore and is listed on the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (SGX-ST). 

The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 896 Dunearn Road #04-
08C, Singapore 589472. 

The principal activity of the Company is that of an investment holding company. The principal activities of 
the subsidiary are disclosed in Note 3 to the financial statements.  

2(a) Basis of preparation

Going concern 
The Group did not generate any revenue for the financial year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, incurred a loss 
after tax and total comprehensive loss of US$343,000 (2019 - US$711,000) and had net cash used in operating 
activities of US$165,000 (2019 - US$436,000) for the financial year ended 31 March 2020. The Group had net 
current liabilities and net liabilities of US$229,000 and US$218,000 respectively (2019 – net current assets and 
net assets of US$125,000). These factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast a 
significant doubt on the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as going concerns. 

The directors are of the opinion that the use of going concern assumption in preparing the accompanying 
financial statements is appropriate. 

The directors believe that the Company and the Group are able to continue to operate as going concerns at 
least for the next twelve months from the date of the financial statements, after having considered projection 
of positive cash flows to be generated from a roll-out of a business plan during the financial year beginning 1 
April 2020. 

If the Group and the Company are unable to continue as a going concern, the Group and the Company may 
be unable to discharge their liabilities in the normal course of business, and adjustments may have to be made 
to reflect the situation that assets may need to be realised other than in the normal course of business and at 
amounts which could differ significantly from the amounts at which they are currently recorded in the 
statements of financial position. In addition, the Group and the Company may have to provide for further 
liabilities that might arise, and may need to reclassify non-current assets as current assets, respectively. No 
such adjustments have been made to the financial statements.  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except as otherwise 
described in the notes below. 

The financial statements are presented in United States dollars. All financial information has been presented 
in United States dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
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2(a) Basis of preparation (Cont’d)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SFRS(I) requires the use of judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses 
during the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current 
events and actions, actual results may differ from those estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected. 

The critical accounting estimates and assumptions used and areas involving a significant judgement are 
described below. 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Incremental borrowing rate (Notes 5 and 12) 
On 1 April 2019, the Group applied the SFRS(I) 16 Leases transition provisions and recognised a lease liability 
at the present value of the remaining lease payments using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate for the 
underlying lease asset; and recognised a right-of-use asset, on a lease-by-lease basis at an amount equal to the 
lease liability. Management applied significant estimates and assumptions in determining the incremental 
borrowing rate, with key inputs to the computation comprising the term of the lease, nature and quality of the 
security, economic environment and credit spread. 

Provision for expected credit losses (“ECL”) of trade and other receivables (Note 6) 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for the trade receivables. The provision matrix is based 
on the Group’s historical default rates taking into consideration reasonable and supportable forward-looking 
information that is available without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical observed 
default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered. In addition, trade 
receivables which are credit impaired are assessed for ECL individually. The provision of ECL is sensitive to 
changes in estimates.  

2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I) effective for the current financial year 

On 1 April 2019, the Group and the Company have adopted all the new and revised SFRS(I), SFRS(I) 
interpretations (“SFRS(I) INT”) and amendments to SFRS(I), effective for the current financial year that are 
relevant to them. The adoption of these new and revised SFRS(I) pronouncements does not result in significant 
changes to the Group’s and the Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts or 
the disclosures reported for the current or prior reporting periods, except as discussed below:  

Reference Description
SFRS(I) 16  Leases  
SFRS(I) INT 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  
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2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I) effective for the current financial year (Cont’d)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases 
SFRS(I) 16 Leases supersedes SFRS(I) 1-17 Leases, SFRS(I) INT 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease, SFRS(I) INT 1-15 Operating Leases - Incentives and SFRS(I) INT 1-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
involving the Legal Form of a Lease, and pronounces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. 
For lessee accounting, SFRS(I) 16 introduces significant changes by removing the distinction between 
operating and finance lease and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at 
commencement for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets when such recognition 
exemptions are adopted. For lessor accounting, the requirements have remained largely unchanged. The impact 
of the adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on the Group’s financial statements are discussed below. 

The date of initial application of SFRS(I) 16 for the Group is 1 April 2019. The Group has elected to transition 
to SFRS(I) 16 using the cumulative catch-up (or modified retrospective) approach which requires the Group 
to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying SFRS(I) 16 as an adjustment to the opening balance of 
retained earnings at the date of initial application, without restatement of comparatives under SFRS(I) 1-17. 

(a) Definition of a lease 
The new definition of a lease under SFRS(I) 16 mainly relates to the concept of ‘control’ that determines 
whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, which is in contrast to the concept of 'risks 
and rewards' under SFRS(I) 1-17. 

The Group has elected to apply the practical expedient available on transition to SFRS(I) 16 not to reassess 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. Accordingly, the superseded definition of a lease under SFRS(I) 1-
17 continues to be applied to those leases entered into, or modified, before 1 April 2019, and the Group applies 
the new definition of a lease and related guidance set out in SFRS(I) 16 only to those lease contracts entered 
into, or modified, on or after 1 April 2019. After the transition to SFRS(I) 16, the Group shall reassess whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease only if the terms and conditions of the contract are changed. 

The new requirements for identifying a lease under SFRS(I) 16 do not change significantly the scope of 
contracts that will meet the definition of a lease for the Group.  

(b) Lessee accounting 
Former operating leases 
Before the adoption of SFRS(I) 16, the Group’s non-cancellable operating lease payments in future reporting 
periods for office premise, were not recognised as liabilities in the statement of financial position but were 
disclosed as commitments in the notes to the financial statements, and these lease payments were reported as 
rental expenses in profit or loss over the lease term on a straight-line basis and presented under operating 
activities in the statement of cash flows. Under SFRS(I) 16, the Group recognises right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities in the statement of financial position for these outstanding lease payments, reports depreciation of 
right-of-use assets and interest expense on lease liabilities in profit or loss, and presents these lease payments 
as principal repayment and interest paid separately under financing activities in the statement of cash flows. 

Under SFRS(I) 16, lease incentives are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities whereas under SFRS(I)1-17, they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive liability, 
amortised as a reduction of rental expenses on a straight-line basis. 
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2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I) effective for the current financial year (Cont’d)

SFRS(I) 16 Leases (Cont’d) 
(b) Lessee accounting (Cont’d) 
Former operating leases (Cont’d) 

The Group used a number of practical expedients when applying SFRS(I) 16 to leases previously classified as 
operating leases under SFRS(I) 1-17. In particular, the Group: 
• adjusts the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount of provision for onerous leases 

recognised under SFRS(I) 1-37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets in the statement of 
financial position immediately before the date of initial application, as an alternative to performing an 
impairment review under SFRS(I) 1-36;  

• elects not to recognise the right-of-use asset and lease liability for a lease with lease term ending within 
twelve months of the date of initial application;  

• excludes initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application; 
and  

• uses hindsight for determining the lease term when the contract contains options to extend or terminate 
the lease.  

The Group has elected, as a practical expedient of SFRS(I) 16, not to separate non-lease components from 
lease components for all classes of underlying assets and instead account for each lease component and any 
associated non-lease components as a single lease component.  

On 1 April 2019, the Group applied the following SFRS(I) 16 transition provisions under the cumulative catch-
up approach for its lease of office premise formerly classified as operating lease under SFRS(I) 1-17. On 
transition, the lease liability of this lease was measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, 
discounted at the Group’s incremental borrowing rate applicable to the lease as at 1 April 2019. Right-of-use 
asset is measured at an amount equal to the lease liability. 

The Group did not have short-term leases and leases of low-value assets as at 1 April 2019. 

The Group has tested its right-of-use asset for impairment on the date of transition and has concluded that 
there is no indication that the right-of-use asset is impaired.  

(c) Financial impact of initial application of SFRS(I) 16 
The Group’s incremental borrowing rate applied to measure the Group’s lease liability recognised in the 
statement of financial position on 1 April 2019 was 4.8%.  

A reconciliation of the differences between the Group’s operating lease commitments previously disclosed in 
the financial statements as at 31 March 2019 and the Group’s lease liability recognised in the statement of 
financial position on 1 April 2019 is as follows: 

US$’000
Operating lease commitments as at 1 April 2019 not disclosed previously as not significant 36
Lease liability as at 1 April 2019 36

The effects of adoption of SFRS(I) 16 on the Group’s financial statements as at 1 April 2019 are as follows:  

Increase/(decrease)
US$’000

Assets
Right-of-use asset 36

Liability
Non-current
Lease liability 11

Current
Lease liability 25
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2(b) Adoption of new and revised SFRS(I) effective for the current financial year (Cont’d)

SFRS(I) INT 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
The Group has adopted SFRS(I) INT 23 for the first time in the current year. SFRS(I) INT 23 sets out how 
to determine the accounting tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments. The 
Interpretation requires the Group to: 

 determine whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately or as a group; and 

 assess whether it is probable that a tax authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed 
to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings, as follows: 
- if yes, the Group should determine its accounting tax position consistently with the tax treatment used 

or planned to be used in its income tax filings, or 
- if no, the Group should reflect the effect of uncertainty in determining its accounting tax position 

using either the most likely amount or the expected value method. 

There is no material impact to the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements. 

2(c) Standards issued but not yet effective  

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group and the Company have not adopted the 
new and revised SFRS(I), SFRS(I) INT and amendments to SFRS(I) that have been issued but are not yet 
effective to them. Management anticipates that the adoption of these new and revised SFRS(I) 
pronouncements in future periods will not have a material impact on the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
statements in the period of their initial application, except as discussed below:  

Reference Description 

Effective date 
(Annual 
periods 

beginning on 
or after)

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) 1 January 2020 
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and Definition of Material 1 January 2020 
 SFRS(I) 1-8 
Amendments to SFRS(I) 16:  Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions  1 June 2020 
Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or  1 January 2023 

Non-current 
Amendment to SFRS(I) 1-1:  Classification of Liabilities as Current or  - 

Non-current—Deferral of Effective Date 
Amendments to SFRS(I) 3:  Reference to the Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022 

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) 
The Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting is the foundation on which new accounting standards are 
developed. The revised Conceptual Framework became effective immediately upon its publication in March 
2018. The main changes to principles in the Conceptual Framework have implications for how and when assets 
and liabilities are recognised and derecognised in the financial statements. Some entities may use the 
Conceptual Framework as a reference for selecting their accounting policies in the absence of specific SFRS(I) 
requirements. In these cases, the entities should review those policies and apply the new guidance 
retrospectively. 

The Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) are issued together with the revised 
Conceptual Framework. Some SFRS(I), their accompanying documents and SFRS(I) practice statements 
contain references to, or quotations from the Conceptual Framework. The Amendments to References to the 
Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) Standards sets out amendments to SFRS(I), their accompany documents 
and SFRS(I) practice statements to reflect the issue of the revised Conceptual  
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2(c) Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont’d) 

Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in SFRS(I) (Cont’d) 
Framework. These amendments, where they actually are updates, are effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2020, with early application permitted. 

There is no material impact expected to the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements on initial 
application. 

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 and SFRS(I) 1-8 Definition of Material  
The amendments are intended to make the definition of ‘material’ in SFRS(I) 1-1 easier to understand and are 
not intended to alter the underlying concept of materiality in SFRS(I). The concept of ‘obscuring’ material 
information with immaterial information has been included as part of the new definition. The threshold for 
materiality influencing users has been changed from ‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be expected to 
influence’. The definition of ‘material’ in SFRS(I) 1-8 has been replaced by a reference to the definition of 
‘material’ in SFRS(I) 1-1. In addition, the other SFRS(I) and the Conceptual Framework, which contain a 
definition of ‘material’ or refer to the term ‘material’, have been updated to ensure consistency.  

The amendments are applied prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020, with earlier 
application permitted.  

There is no material impact expected to the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements on initial 
application. 

Amendment to SFRS(I) 16 COVID-19 Related Rent Concessions
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, rent concessions have been granted to lessees. Such concessions might 
take a variety of forms, including payment holidays and deferral of lease payments. The amendment provides 
lessees with an option to treat qualifying rent concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease 
modifications.  

The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 
pandemic, and only if all of the following conditions are met: 
a. the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same 

as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change; 
b. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and 
c. there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 
Entities applying the practical expedient must disclose this fact, whether the expedient has been applied to all 
qualifying rent concessions, and the nature of the contracts to which it has been applied, as well as the amount 
recognised in profit or loss arising from the rent concessions. 

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted.  

Amendments to SFRS(I) 1-1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
The amendments clarify that liabilities are classified as either current or non-current, depending on the rights 
that exist at the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected by the expectations of the entity or 
events after the reporting date (e.g. the receipt of a waver or a breach of covenant). The amendments also 
clarify what SFRS(I) 1-1 means when it refers to the ‘settlement’ of a liability. 

These amendments should be applied for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 retrospectively 
in accordance to SFRS(I) 1-8. Earlier application is permitted. If an entity applies these amendments for an 
earlier period, it shall disclose that fact.  
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2(c) Standards issued but not yet effective (Cont’d) 

Amendments to SFRS(I) 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework
The amendments update the references to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and add an 
exception for the recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities within the scope of SFRS(I) 1-37. The 
amendments also confirm that contingent assets should not be recognised at the acquisition date. 

The amendments are effective for business combinations for which the date of acquisition is on or after the 
beginning of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022.  

Early application is permitted if the entity also applies all other updated references (published together with 
the updated Conceptual Framework) at the same time or earlier. 

2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies 

Consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiary as 
at the end of the reporting period. The financial statements of the subsidiary used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Company. Consistent 
accounting policies are applied to like transactions and events in similar circumstances. 

All intragroup balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from intragroup 
transactions and dividends are eliminated in full. 

A subsidiary is consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control 
and continues to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases. 

Losses and other comprehensive income are attributable to the non-controlling interest even if that results in 
a deficit balance. 

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it: 

- de-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at their carrying amounts 
as at that date when control is lost; 

- de-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; 
- de-recognises the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; 
- recognises the fair value of the consideration received; 
- recognises the fair value of any investment retained; 
- recognises any surplus or deficit in profit or loss; 
- re-classifies the Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

to profit or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies 

Consolidation (Cont’d)
A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Group. The Group controls an investee when it is exposed, 
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those 
returns through its power over the investee. 

Thus, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has all of the following: 

- power over the investee; 
- exposure, or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the investee 
when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee 
unilaterally. The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Group’s 
voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including: 

- the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the 
other vote holders; 

- potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or other parties; 
- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group has, or does not have, the current 

ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting 
patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings. 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiary that do not result in the Group losing control over 
the subsidiary are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any 
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Group. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as 
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any 
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the 
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as 
specified/permitted by applicable FRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at 
the date when the control is lost is regarded as the fair value on the initial recognition for subsequent 
accounting under FRS 39, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or 
a joint venture. 

Investment in subsidiary  
Investments in subsidiary are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, on an individual 
subsidiary basis. 

Financial instruments 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

(I) Financial assets  

Measurement 

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial assets are recognised when, only when the entity becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments.  

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables 
that do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical 
expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of financial asset not 
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables are measured at the amount of 
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or 
services to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third party if the trade receivables do not 
contain a significant financing component at initial recognition. Refer to the accounting policies in this section 
Revenue from contracts with customers. 

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“OCI”), it needs to give rise to cash flows that are “solely payments of principal and 
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is 
performed at an instrument level. 

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting 
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. 

Purchase or sales of financial assets that required delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e. the date 
that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 
For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in four categories: 
- Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments). 
- Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt 

instruments). 
- Financial assets designated as fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses 

upon derecognition (equity instruments). 
- Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) 
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation process. 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model with the objective to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash terms of the financial 
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments). 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

(I) Financial assets (Cont’d) 

Measurement (Cont’d) 

Subsequent measurement (Cont’d)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)(Cont’d) 
Financial assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent 
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit 
or loss when the assets are derecognised or impaired, and through amortisation process. 

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model with the objective to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash terms of the financial 
asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding. 

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost include trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments).  

Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”)  
Financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where 
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Financial 
assets measured at FVOCI are subsequently measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair 
value of the financial assets are recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses, 
foreign exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in 
profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for financial assets measured at amortised cost. The 
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to 
profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is de-recognised. 

The Group does not have financial assets that are measured at FVOCI. 

Financial assets designated as fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI) (equity instruments) 
The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair value. On initial recognition of an equity 
instrument that is not held for trading, the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair 
value in OCI. The classification is determined on an instrument – by – instrument basis. Dividends from such 
investments are to be recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss. 
Changes in fair value of financial assets at FVOCI recognised in OCI are never recycled to profit or loss. 
Dividends are recognised as other income in the statement of profit and loss when the right of payment has 
been established, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of the 
financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at FVOCI are 
not subject to impairment assessment. 

The Group does not have financial assets that are designated as fair value through other comprehensive income 
(OCI) (equity instruments). 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

(I) Financial assets (Cont’d) 

Subsequent measurement (Cont’d) 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets 
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required 
to be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with 
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be 
classified at amortised cost or at FVOCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at fair value 
through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an accounting 
mismatch.  

A gain or loss on a debt instruments that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and is 
not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss statement in the period in which it arises. 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in the finance income. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value 
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

The Group does not have financial assets that are measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

Derecognition 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or 
- The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation 

to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” 
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 
asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor 
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of 
the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 
required to repay. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

(I) Financial assets (Cont’d) 

Impairment of financial assets 
The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt 
instrument assets carried at amortised cost and FVOCI. ECL are based on the difference between the 
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to 
receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will 
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms. 

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are 
possible within the next 12 – months (a 12 – months ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL). 

For trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) and amount due from subsidiary, the Group measures 
the loss allowance at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses. Therefore, the Group does not 
track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting 
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted 
for forward – looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days due. However, in 
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before 
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows. 

(II) Financial liabilities  

Initial recognition and measurement 
Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. These financial 
liabilities comprise trade and other payables and loan from shareholder. 

Borrowings which are due to be settled within 12 months after the end of reporting period are included in 
current borrowings in the statement of financial position even though the original terms was for a period longer 
than twelve months and an agreement to refinance, or to reschedule payments, on a long-term basis is 
completed after the end of reporting period. Borrowings to be settled within the Group’s operating cycle are 
classified as current. Other borrowings due to be settled more than twelve months after the end of reporting 
period are included in non-current borrowings in the statement of financial position. 

Subsequent measurement 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense and 
foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.  
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d) 

(II) Financial liabilities  

Derecognition 
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the 
modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms 
is recognised at fair value. 

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the 
consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

(III) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank. 

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary 
shares are deducted against the share capital account.  

Leases (from 1 April 2019)
(i) The Group as lessee 

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which 
it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of twelve months or less) and 
leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the 
time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

(a) Lease liability 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate specific to the lessee. The incremental borrowing rate is defined 
as the rate of interest that the lessee would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security 
the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 

•  fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the 

commencement date; 
• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
• exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to

terminate the lease. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Leases (from 1 April 2019) (Cont’d) 
(i) The Group as lessee (Cont’d) 

(a) Lease liability (Cont’d) 
Variable lease payments that are not based on an index or a rate are not included as part of the measurement 
and initial recognition of the lease liability. The Group shall recognise those lease payments in profit or loss in 
the periods that trigger those lease payments. 

For all contracts that contain both lease and non-lease components, the Group has elected to not separate 
lease and non-lease components and account these as one single lease component. 

The lease liabilities are presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost, by increasing the carrying amount to reflect 
interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect 
the lease payments made. 

The Group remeasures the lease liability (with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset or 
to profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has already been reduced to nil) whenever: 

• the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change 
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate;

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used); or 

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate 
at the effective date of the modification. 

(b) Right-of-use asset 
The right-of-use asset comprises the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They 
are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on 
which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the 
lease, a provision is recognised and measured under SFRS(I) 1-37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-
of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce 
inventories. 

Depreciation on right-of-use asset related to the Group’s leased office premise is calculated using the straight-
line method to allocate its depreciable amount over the lease term of 1.5 years. 
If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group 
expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the 
underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease. 

The right-of-use asset is presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position. 

The Group applies SFRS(I) 1-36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any 
identified impairment loss. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Leases (before 1 April 2019) 
Operating leases 
Rentals on operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Lease 
incentives, if any, are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration agreed for the use of the leased 
asset. Penalty payments on early termination, if any, are recognised in profit or loss when incurred. 

Income taxes 
Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of reporting period. 

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and affects neither accounting or taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiary, 
except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is 
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised. 

Employee benefits 
Short-term employee benefits 
Short-term benefit obligations, including accumulated compensated absences, are measured on an 
undiscounted basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is recognised for the 
amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonuses if the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided. 

Defined contribution plans 
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations for 
contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an employee benefit expense in profit 
or loss in the periods during which related services are rendered by employees. 

Key management personnel 
Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing 
and controlling the activities of the entity. Directors of the Company and its subsidiary and certain managers 
are considered key management personnel. 

Related parties 
A related party is defined as follows: 

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group and Company if that 
person: 
(i) has control or joint control over the Company; 
(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or 
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or Company or of a parent of the 

Company. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d)

Related parties (Cont’d) 
 (b) An entity is related to the Group and the Company if any of the following conditions applies: 

(i) the entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each parent, 
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others); 

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of 
a member of a group of which the other entity is a member); 

(iii) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party; 
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity; 
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Company 

or an entity related to the Company. If the Company is itself such a plan, the sponsoring 
employers are also related to the Company; 

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a);  
(vii) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or 
(viii)  the  entity,  or  any  member  of  a  group  of  which  it  is  a  part,  provides  key  management 

personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity 

Impairment of non-financial assets  
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets subject to impairment are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.   

If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, then the recoverable amount of 
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs will be identified. 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment 
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. 

All individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market 
conditions less costs to sell and value-in-use, based on an internal discounted cash flow evaluation.   

All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no 
longer exist. 

Any impairment loss is charged to profit or loss, unless it reverses a previous revaluation in which case it is 
charged to equity. 

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined if no impairment loss had been recognised. 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the rendering of services, net 
of goods and services tax, rebates and discounts.  

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a promised good or 
service to the customer, which is when the customer obtains control of the good or service. A performance 
obligation may be satisfied at a point in time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised is the amount 
allocated to the satisfied performance obligation. 

Revenue from provision of services are recognised when the services are rendered. 
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2(d) Summary of significant accounting policies (Cont’d) 

Revenue recognition (Cont’d) 
Interest income is recognised on a time-apportionment basis using the effective interest method. 

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial statements 
of the Group and the Company are presented in United States dollars, which is also the functional currency 
of the Company. 

Conversion of foreign currencies 
Transactions and balances 
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences 
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the reporting date are recognised in profit or loss. 

When a foreign operation is disposed of or any borrowings forming part of the net investment of the foreign 
operation are repaid, a proportionate share of the accumulated translation differences is reclassified to profit 
or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal. 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either other income or other operating expense 
depending on whether foreign currency movements are in the net gain or net loss position. 

Group entities 
The results and financial position of all the entities within the Group that have a functional currency different 
from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
(i)   Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the end of reporting period; 
(ii)   Income and expenses for each statement presenting profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

(i.e. including comparatives) shall be translated at exchange rates at the dates of transactions; and 
(iii)  All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income and 

accumulated in the exchange reserve. 

Operating segments 
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Group’s other components. Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to the Chief Operating Decision Maker. The Chief Operating Decision Maker has been 
identified as the Chief Executive Officer who makes strategic resources allocation decisions and assesses 
segment performance. Currently, the Group only has one operating segment. 

Earnings per share 
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordinary shares. Basic earnings per share 
is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted for own shares held. 

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 
and the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise convertible bonds and warrants. 
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3 Subsidiary

2020 2019 
The Company US$’000 US$’000 

Unquoted equity investment, at cost * * 

* Amount less than US$1,000. 

The subsidiary is as follows: 
Country of  Effective percentage

Name incorporation of equity held Principal activities 
2020 2019  

% %  
Held by the Company  
** Garnet 9 Carriers Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100 100 Managing the provision of  

barge transportation services 

4 Deferred tax assets   

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

At 1 April - (47) - (47) 
Recognised in profit or loss - 47 - 47 
At 31 March  - - - - 

At 1 April 2018, deferred tax assets comprised  unabsorbed tax losses.

5 Right-of-use asset

Office 
premise Total 

The Group and the Company US$’000 US$’000 

Cost 

At 1 April 2019 on adoption of SFRS (I) 16 and 31 March 2020 36 36

Accumulated depreciation  

At 1 April 2019 on adoption of SFRS (I) 16 - -

Depreciation for the year 25 25
At 31 March 2020 25 25

Net book value  

At 31 March 2020 11 11

At 1 April 2019 36 36 
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6 Other receivables   

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Other receivable  15 - 15 - 
Deposit 6 6 6 6 

Prepayments 230 269 29 68 
Less: 
Impairment for advance payments (Note 14) (200) (200) - - 

30 69 29 68 
51 75 50 74 

Other receivable related to miscellaneous income is on 90-day credit term. 

During the financial year ended 31 March 2019, an impairment loss was recognised on a prepayment of 
US$200,000 as underlying services were not likely to be consumed due to uncertainty over customer demand. 

Other receivable and deposit are denominated in Singapore dollars. 

Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Note 20.4.  

7 Amount due from subsidiary  

2020 2019 
The Company US$’000 US$’000 

Amount due from subsidiary 237 233 

Impairment loss: 
At 1 April  (228) (23) 
Impairment loss recognised   (5) (205) 
At 31 March (233) (228) 
Net amount due from subsidiary 4 5 

Amount due from subsidiary relating to advances is interest-free, unsecured, repayable on demand and 
denominated in United States dollars. 

8 Bank balances    

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Bank balances representing  
   cash and cash equivalents 30 203 23 195 

Bank balances are denominated in the following currencies: 

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

United States dollars 12 37 11 36 
Singapore dollars 18 166 12 159 

30 203 23 195 
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9 Share capital  

2020 2019 2020 2019 
The Group Number of ordinary shares US$’000 US$’000 

Issued and fully paid, with no par value
At 1 April 4,354,159,724 4,228,196,724 591,721 590,928 
Issuance of shares  - 125,963,000 - 793 
At 31 March 4,354,159,724 4,354,159,724 591,721 591,721 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled 
to one vote per share at meetings of the Company. All shares rank equally with regards to the Company’s 
residual assets. 

On 25 June 2018, the Company issued 125,963,000 new ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company 
in full settlement of loan from shareholder and accrued interest thereon. 

10 Trade and other payables     

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Trade payables - * - * 
Other payables * - * - 
Accrued operating expenses 127  97  127  93  
Accrued directors’ fees 108 56 108 56 

235 153 231 149 

* Amount less than US$1,000. 

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies: 

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

United States dollars 50 61 50 61 
Singapore dollars 185 92 181 88 

235 153 231 149 

11 Loan from shareholder  

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Loan from shareholder 64 - 64 - 

Loan from shareholder bears interest at 3% per annum and is repayable in full not later by one year from the 
disbursement date or on such date to be mutually agreed between the shareholder and the Company and 
denominated in Singapore dollars. 
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12 Lease liability  

The Group and the Company 2020
US$’000

Undiscounted lease payment due: 

- Year 1 12
12

Less: Unearned interest cost (1)
11

Interest expense on lease liabilities of US$1,000  is recognised within “finance costs” in profit or loss for the 
year ended 31 March 2020. Lease liability is denominated in Singapore dollars. 

13 Other Income 

2020 2019 
The Group US$’000 US$’000 

Miscellaneous income 20 - 
20 - 

14 Other expenses    

2020 2019 
The Group US$’000 US$’000 

Foreign exchange loss - 3 
Impairment loss on prepayment (Note 6) - 200 

- 203 

15 Loss before taxation  

2020 2019 
The Group US$’000 US$’000 

The following items have been included in arriving at loss before taxation:  

Professional fee 
Audit fees 35 36 
Secretarial fees 19 21 

Staff costs 
Directors' remuneration (key management personnel)  
-   fees 94 104 

Other than key management personnel 
-   salaries and related costs 57 57 
-   Central Provident Fund contributions 9 9 

66 66 
160 170 

Foreign exchange gain * 3 
Impairment loss on advance payments (Note 6) - (200) 
Interest income - (*) 

* Amount less than US$1,000. 
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16 Tax expense    

2020 2019 
The Group US$’000 US$’000 

Current taxation - - 
Deferred taxation - - 

- - 

Adjustments in respect of  prior years  - 31 
- 31 

Reconciliation of tax expense: 

2020 2019 
The Group US$’000 US$’000 

Loss before taxation (343) (680) 

Continuing operation 
Tax at statutory rate of 17% (2019 - 17%) (58) (116) 
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses 58 116 
Adjustments in respect of prior years - 31 

- 31 

17 Loss per share

The Group 

2020 2019 
US$’000 US$’000 

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (343) (711) 

No. No. 
’000 ’000 

Number of ordinary shares in issue at 1 April 4,354,160   4,228,197 
Issuance of shares (Note 9) - 125,963 
Number of ordinary shares in issue at 31 March  4,354,160   4,354,160 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year  4,354,160   4,293,767 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) (0.0079) (0.0166)

The Company did not have any outstanding shares to be issued under the Incentive Plan or Share Option 
Scheme during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. 

18 Related party transactions

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following are 
significant transactions with related parties at mutually agreed amounts: 

2020 2019 
The Group US$’000 US$’000 
Loan from a substantial shareholder 66 - 
Interest charge by a substantial shareholder of the Company 1 14 
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19 Operating segments

Segment information is provided as follows: 

By business Principal activities 

Offshore Provision of management services in connection with the management of vessels 
and barge transportation services. 

Corporate  Investment holding, management and other corporate assets. 

Segment accounting policies are the same as the policies described in Note 2.  

Offshore Corporate The Group
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 
Segment revenue 
Sales to external 

customers - - - - - - 
Total revenue - - - - - - 

Segment result (343) (680) (343) (666) (342) (666) 
Finance income - - - * - - 
Finance costs - - (1) (14) (1) (14) 
Loss before 

taxation (343) (680) (343) (680) (343) (680) 
Taxation  - - - (31) - (31) 
Loss after taxation  (343) (711) (343) (711) (343) (711) 

Segment assets 4 4 88 274 92 278 
Total assets 4 4 88 278 92 278 

Segment liabilities 4 4 306 149 310 153 
Total liabilities 4 4 306 149 310 153 

* Amount less than US$1,000. 

The Group did not generate any revenue during the year ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. The Group’s 
consolidated assets are located in Singapore. No geographical information is presented. 

20 Financial risk management 

The Group is exposed to financial risks arising from its operations and the use of financial instruments. The 
key financial risks relevant to the Group include foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below. 
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20 Financial risk management (Cont’d)

20.1 Foreign currency risk 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates. Currency risk arises when transactions are denominated in foreign currencies. 

The Group has transactional currency exposures arising from expenses that are denominated in a currency 
other than the functional currencies of the respective Group entities. The currency that gives rise to foreign 
currency risk is the Singapore dollars (SGD). 

A 5% strengthening of the SGD against the functional currencies of the respective Group entities at the 
reporting date would have decreased equity and profit or loss before tax as follows: 

2020 2019 
----------------------Increase/(Decrease) -----------------------

Loss Loss 
The Group before tax Equity before tax Equity 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

SGD strengthened 5% against USD 10 (10) (7) 7 

The Company

SGD strengthened 5% against USD 10 (10) (7) 7

This analysis is based on foreign currency exchange rate variances that the Group considered to be reasonably 
possible at the end of the reporting period. The analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant and does not take into account the associated tax effect. A 5% weakening of the SGD 
against the functional currencies of the respective Group entities would have had the equal but opposite effect 
on the above currencies to the amount shown above, on the basis that all other variables remain constant.  

20.2 Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. 

The Group is not exposed to significant interest rate risk as it does not hold any variable rate financial 
instruments. 

20.3 Market price risk 
Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices 
whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting 
all securities traded in the market. 

The Group does not hold any quoted or marketable financial instrument, and hence is not exposed to any 
movements in market price. 

20.4 Credit risk  
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the 
Group or the Company to incur a financial loss. 

Receivable balances and payment profile of debtors are monitored on an on-going basis with the result that 
the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.  
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20 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d) 

20.4 Credit risk (Cont’d) 
Credit risk concentration profile 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset. 

At 31 March 2019 and 2020, there was no significant concentration of credit risk.  

Exposure to credit risk 
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and other items, as well as maximum 
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades: 

Internal Gross
The Group credit 12-month/ carrying Loss Net carrying

rating Lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 March 2020
Trade and other receivables (Note 6) (1) Lifetime ECL 21 - 21

31 March 2019
Trade and other receivables (Note 6) (1) Lifetime ECL 6 - 6 

Gross
The Company 12-month/ carrying Loss Net carrying

Note Lifetime ECL amount allowance amount
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 March 2020
Other receivables (Note 6) (1) Lifetime ECL 21 - 21
Amount due from subsidiary (Note 7) (2) 12-month ECL 237 (233) 4

31 March 2019
Other receivables (Note 6) (1) Lifetime ECL 6 - 6 
Amount due from subsidiary (Note 7) (2) 12-month ECL 233 (228) 5 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any allowances 
for losses, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account of the value 
of any collateral obtained. 

(1)  Other receivables 
Loss allowance for other receivables is measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. The 
ECL on other receivables are estimated by reference to payment history, current financial situation of the 
debtor, debtor-specific information obtained directly from the debtor and public domain, where available, and 
an assessment of the current and future wider economic conditions and outlook for the industry in which the 
debtor operates at the reporting date. 

(2)  Amount due from subsidiary 
The amount due from subsidiary is considered to have low credit risk as the Company has control or significant 
influence over the operating, investing and financing activities of these entities.  The use of advances to assist 
with the subsidiary’s cash flow management is in line with the Group capital management. In determining the 
ECL, management has taken into account the finances and business performance of the subsidiary, and a 
forward-looking analysis of the financial performance of the subsidiary. At the reporting date, no loss 
allowance for amount due from subsidiary was required except as disclosed.  

(3)  Cash and cash equivalents 
The cash and cash equivalents are held with banks of good credit ratings. 
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20 Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d) 

20.5 Liquidity risk
Liquidity or funding risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet 
commitments associated with financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from an inability to sell a financial 
asset quickly at close to its fair value.  

The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk arises primarily from mismatches of the maturities of financial assets 
and liabilities.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including interest payments and excluding 
the impact of netting agreements: 

Carrying Contractual Less than Between 
amount cash flows 1 year 2-5 years 

The Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

31 March 2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 235 235 179 56
Loan from shareholder 64 65 65 -
Lease liability 11 11 11 -

310 311 311 56

31 March 2019 

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 153 153 153 - 

153 153 153 - 

Carrying Contractual Less than Between 
amount cash flows 1 year 2-5 years 

The Company US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

31 March 2020

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 231 231 175 56
Loan from shareholder 64 65 65 -
Lease liability 11 11 11 -

306 307 251 56

31 March 2019 

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 149 149 149 - 

149 149 149 - 
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21 Capital management 

The Group's and the Company’s objectives when managing capital are: 

(a)   To safeguard the Group's and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern; 

(b) To support the Group's and the Company’s stability and growth;  

(c) To provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group's and the Company’s risk management 
capability; and 

(d) To provide an adequate return to shareholders. 

The Group and the Company currently do not adopt any formal dividend policy. 

Management monitors capital based on gearing ratio which is calculated as net debt divided by total equity. 
Net debt represents total liabilities less cash and cash equivalents. 

There were no changes in the Group’s and the Company’s approach to capital management during the year. 

The Group and the Company are not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. 

The Group The Company
2020 2019 2020 2019 

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 

Trade and other payables 235 153 231 149 
Loan from shareholder 64 - 64 - 
Lease liability 11 - 11 - 
Bank balances (30) (203) (23) (195) 
Net debt (A) (280) (50) (283) (46) 

Total equity (B)  (218) 125 (218) 125 

Gearing ratio (times) (A)/(B) * * 40% * 37% 

* Not presented as the Group and the Company have deficit in total equity. 

23 Financial Instruments  

23. 1      Fair values 
The carrying amount of the financial assets and financial liabilities with a maturity of less than one year 
approximate their fair values because of the short period to maturity. 

The Company does not anticipate that the carrying amounts recorded at end of reporting period would be 
significantly different from the values that would eventually be received or settled.  
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23 Financial Instruments (Cont’d) 

23.2  Accounting classification of financial assets and financial liabilities 
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting date by categories are as follows: 

Financial Financial
The Group assets at liabilities at 

amortised cost amortised cost Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 March 2020
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 21 - 21
Bank balances 30 - 30

51 - 51

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - 235 235
Loan from shareholder - 64 64
Lease liability - 11 11

- 310 310

31 March 2019
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 6  -  6 
Bank balances 203  -   203 

209 - 209

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - 153 153 

- 153 153 

Financial Financial
The Company assets at liabilities at 

amortised cost amortised cost Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

31 March 2020
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 21 - 21
Bank balances 23 - 23

44 - 44

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - 231 231
Loan from shareholder - 64 64
Lease liability - 11 11

- 306 306

31 March 2019
Financial assets
Trade and other receivables* 6  -  6 
Bank balances 195 - 195

201  -  201 

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables - 149 149 

- 149 149
* excludes prepayments.  
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24 Subsequent Events 

SFRS(I) 1-10 defines an adjusting event as an event that provides evidence of conditions that existed at the 
reporting date. A non-adjusting event indicates conditions that arose after the reporting date. An outbreak of 
the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) had been reported to the World Health Organisation in China on 31 
December 2019. On 31 January 2020, the World Health Organisation announced the Coronavirus Disease 
(COVID-19) outbreak as a global health emergency. On 11 March 2020, the World Health Organisation 
declared the Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) outbreak to be a pandemic in recognition of its rapid spread 
across the globe. The Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) outbreak and the measures taken to contain the spread 
of the pandemic have created a high level of uncertainty to global economic prospects. These are the conditions 
that existed before 31 March 2020 and it is therefore an adjusting event for the purposes of impairment, 
valuations and estimates of fair value. The Group has assessed that the developments subsequent to the 
reporting date do not have implications to the Group’s financial assets. And the Group is not aware of any 
indicators of impairment to the Group’s non-financial assets arising from COVID-19 outbreak. 
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STATISTICS OF SHAREHOLDINGS

AS AT 24 AUGUST 2020

SHARE CAPITAL

NO. OF SHARES : 4,354,159,724 
CLASS OF SHARES : ORDINARY 
VOTING RIGHTS : 1 VOTE PER ORDINARY SHARE 

DISTRIBUTION OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS

SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS NO. OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

% NO. OF SHARES %

1 - 99 1,347 9.43 102,619 0.00 

100 - 1,000 6,268 43.90 2,740,424 0.06 

1,001 - 10,000 4,471 31.31 17,428,805 0.40 

10,001 - 1,000,000 2,056 14.40 224,160,652 5.15 

1,000,001 & ABOVE 137 0.96 4,109,727,224 94.39 

TOTAL 14,279 100.00 4,354,159,724 100.00 

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 24 AUGUST 2020

NO. OF SHARES %

1.  POLARIS NINE PRIVATE LIMITED 1,590,620,518 36.53

2.  OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 659,738,378 15.15

3.  TRITON INVESTMENTS NO 9 PTE LTD 333,855,300 7.67

4.  PHANG CHUNG WAH 159,253,077 3.66

5.  RHB SECURITIES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 156,814,800 3.60

6.  UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 135,598,979 3.11

7.  SIRIUS NINE PRIVATE LIMITED 131,988,584 3.03

8.  CHING KIM FOO 117,799,800 2.71

9.  MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 106,121,004 2.44

10.  PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 80,568,274 1.85

11.  CGS-CIMB SECURITIES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 76,745,160 1.76

12.  CYBER EXPRESS ENTERPRISES LIMITED 40,000,000 0.92
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13.  DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 33,852,722 0.78

14.  BENJAMIN NG CHEE YONG 27,786,077 0.64

15.  CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 23,938,220 0.55

16.  LOW HONG KAI 20,404,600 0.47

17.  LEONG LAY BEE 19,865,900 0.46

18.  TEOH BOON CHONG @ CHANG BOON CHOONG 19,000,000 0.44

19.  RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LIMITED 15,905,300 0.36

20.  UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 13,234,832 0.30

TOTAL 3,763,091,525 86.43

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

NAME OF SUBSTANTIAL 
SHAREHOLDERS 

DIRECT 
INTEREST

% DEEMED 
INTEREST

%

1. POLARIS NINE PRIVATE LIMITED 1,590,620,518 36.53 - -

2. CHYE KOK HOE (1) - - 1,590,620,518 36.53

3. TRITON INVESTMENTS NO 9 PTE LTD 333,855,300 7.67 - -

4. SIMPSON STEVEN BARRY JOHN (2) - - 333,855,300 7.67

Notes: 

(1) Chye Kok Hoe is deemed to be interested in the 36.53% interest in shares registered in the name of Polaris 
Nine Private Limited by virtue of his controlling interest in Polaris Nine Private Limited. 

(2) Simpson Steven Barry John is deemed to be interested in the 7.67% interest in shares registered in the name 
of Triton Investments No 9 Pte Ltd by virtue of his controlling interest in Triton Investments No. 9 Pte Ltd. 

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company as at 24 August 2020, approximately 49.11% of 
the issued ordinary shares of the Company are held by the public. Accordingly, the Company has 
complied with Rule 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
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 NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting  of the Company will be convened and 

held by way of electronic means on Tuesday, 22 September 2020 at 9:30 a.m. (the “AGM”) to transact 

the following business: 

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and the Audited Financial Statements of the 

Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the report of the Auditors thereon.  

(Resolution 1) 

2. To re-elect Mr Rajan Ganapathy, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s 

Constitution (See Explanatory Note (i)). 

(Resolution 2) 

3. To re-elect Mr Wu Fengji, a Director retiring pursuant to Article 97 of the Company’s 

Constitution (See Explanatory Note (ii)). 

(Resolution 3) 

4. To re-elect Mr Heng Aik Yong, a Director retiring by rotation  pursuant to Article 91 of the 

Company’s Constitution (See Explanatory Note (iii)). 

(Resolution 4) 

5. To approve Directors’ fees of S$138,000 for the financial year ending 31 March 2021 

(“FY2021”) to be paid on a current year basis, quarterly in arrears (2020:S$143,500) (See 

Explanatory Note (iv)). 

(Resolution 5) 

6. To re-appoint Foo Kon Tan LLP as Auditor and to authorise the Directors to fix their 

remuneration. 

(Resolution 6) 

7. To transact any other ordinary business that may properly be transacted at an Annual General 

Meeting. 

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS 

To consider and, if thought fit, passing the following resolutions: 
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8. SHARE ISSUE MANDATE 

That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore (the “Companies Act”) 
and Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), 
authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to: 

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether by way of rights, 
bonus or otherwise; and/or  

(ii) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively “Instruments”) that  
might or would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the 
creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other 
Instruments convertible into shares, 

at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such 
persons as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and 

(b) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in 
force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instruments made or granted by the Directors 
while this Resolution was in force, 

provided that: 

1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including 
shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this 
Resolution) shall not exceed 50% of the total number of issued shares (excluding 
treasury shares) in the capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with 
paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than 
on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company shall not exceed 20% of 
the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company excluding treasury 
shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (2) below); 

2) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the 
purpose of determining  the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under 
paragraph (1) above, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total 
number of issued shares (excluding treasury shares) in the capital of the Company at 
the time of the passing of this Resolution, after adjusting for: 

(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any Instruments; 

(ii) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards, 
provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with Part VII of 
Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and 

(iii) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of shares; 

Adjustments in accordance with paragraphs (ii) or (iii) above are only to be made in 
respect of new shares arising from Instruments, convertible securities, share options 
or share awards which were issued and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the 
passing of this Resolution. 

3) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with  
the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless 



V 

such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Constitution for the time 
being of the Company; and 

4) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred 
by this Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual 
General Meeting of the Company or the date by which the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier (See 
Explanatory Note (v)). 

(Resolution 7) 

By order of the Board 

Ng Joo Khin 
Company Secretary 
1 September 2020 
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Notes: 

1) The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is being convened, and will be held, by electronic means pursuant to 
the COVID-19 (Temporary Measures) (Alternative Arrangements for Meetings for Companies, Variable 
Capital Companies, Business Trusts, Unit Trusts and Debenture Holders) Order 2020. Printed copies of this 
notice of AGM (the “Notice”) and the 2020 Annual Report will not be sent to members. Instead, this Notice 
and the 2020 Annual Report will be sent to members by electronic means via publication on the Company’s 
website at the URL http://www.jasperinvests.com/investor_relations.asp. This Notice and the 2020 Annual 
Report will also be made available on the SGX Website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-
announcements. 

2) Live Audio and Video Webcast. The proceedings of the AGM will be broadcast through a "live" webcast 
("Webcast") comprising both video (audiovisual) and audio feeds. Please pre-register for the Webcast if you 
wish to attend the AGM. All members as well as investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries 
(as defined in Section 181(1C) of the Companies Act) (“Investors”) (including Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) 
and Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS”) (“CPF/SRS Investors”)), who wish to follow the proceedings 
of the AGM through the Webcast must pre-register online at URL: 
https://globalmeeting.bigbangdesign.co/jasperinvests/ for verification purposes. The website will be open for 
pre-registration from 9:00 p.m., 7 September 2020 and will close at 2:00 p.m., 20 September] 2020. Following 
verification, an email will be sent to you on or around 21 September 2020 via the e-mail address provided on 
pre-registration. Please use the provided access and/or identification credentials to access the Webcast. 

If you have any queries on the Webcast viewable online via URL: 
https://globalmeeting.bigbangdesign.co/jasperinvests/, please email webcast@bigbangdesign.co. 

3) Submission of Questions. Members and Investors will not be able to ask questions "live" via the webcast. 
All members and Investors can submit questions relating to the business of the AGM via the pre-registration 
website URL: https://globalmeeting.bigbangdesign.co/jasperinvests/. Questions must be submitted not less 
than 72 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the AGM. The Company will endeavour to respond 
to substantial and relevant questions received from members via SGXNET and the Company’s website prior 
to the AGM, or during the AGM. Where there are substantially similar questions the Company will consolidate 
such questions; consequently not all questions may be individually addressed. 

4) Voting. Due to the current COVID-19 restriction orders in Singapore, a member will not be able to attend the 
AGM in person. A member (whether individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the AGM as 
his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the AGM if such member wishes to exercise 
his/her/its voting rights at the AGM. The accompanying proxy form for the AGM may be accessed at the 
Company’s website at the URL: http://www.jasperinvests.com/investor_relations.asp, and will also be made 
available on the SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. 

Where a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy, 
he/she/it must give specific instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in 
the form of proxy, failing which the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will 
be treated as invalid. 

Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries (as defined in Section 181(1C) of the Companies 
Act) (including CPF/SRS Investors) who wish to appoint the Chairman of the AGM as proxy should approach 
their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes at least seven working days before 
the AGM (i.e. by 11 September 2020) to ensure that their votes are submitted. 

5) The Chairman of the AGM, as proxy, need not be a member of the Company. 

6) The instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy must be submitted to the Company in the 
following manner: 

(a) if submitted by post, be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar at 8 Robinson Road #03-00 
ASO Building, Singapore 048544; or 

(b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to main@zicoholdings.com,   

in either case not less than 48 hours before the time set for the holding of the AGM. 
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7) A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the proxy 
form, before submitting it by post to the address provided above, or by scanning and sending it by email to 
the email address provided above. 

In view of the current COVID-19 situation and the related safe distancing measures which may make it difficult 
for members to submit completed proxy forms by post, members are strongly encouraged to submit completed 
proxy forms electronically via email. 

8) Shareholders should note that the manner of conduct of the AGM may be subject to further changes based 
on the evolving COVID-19 situation, any legislative amendments and any directives or guidelines from 
government agencies or regulatory authorities. Any changes to the manner of the conduct of the AGM will be 
announced by the Company on the SGX Website. Shareholders are advised to check the SGX Website and 
the Company’s website regularly for further updates. 

General: 

1) The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly 
authorized in writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must 
be executed either under its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the 
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the appointor, the letter or 
power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument. 

2) The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy or proxies which is incomplete, improperly 
completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of 
the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a of proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares 
entered in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 
289) of Singapore), the Company may reject an instrument of proxy or proxies if the member, being the 
appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two 
(72) hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) 
Limited to the Company. 

Explanatory Notes: 

(i) Mr Rajan Ganapathy is an Independent, Non-Executive Director of the Company who is due to retire pursuant 
to Article 97 of the Constitution (in view of the fact that he was initially appointed by the Board of Directors 
after the last annual general meeting). He is also a member of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and Nominating Committee. Upon his re-election, Mr Ganapathy will remain as an 
Independent, Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr Rajan Ganapathy is considered independent for the 
purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 

(ii) Mr Wu Fengji is a Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director of the Company who is due to rotation pursuant 
to Article 97 of the Constitution (in view of the fact that he was initially appointed by the Board of Directors 
after the last annual general meeting). He is also a member of the Nominating Committee, the Audit  
Committee and Remuneration Committee. Upon his re-election, Mr Wu will remain as a Non-Independent, 
Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr Wu Fengji is not considered independent for the purpose of Rule 
704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 

(iii) Mr Heng Aik Yong is an Executive Director and Acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company who is due to 
retire by rotation pursuant to Article 91 of the Constitution. Upon his re-election, Mr Heng will remain as an 
Executive Director and Acting Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Mr Heng Aik Yong is not considered 
independent for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. 

(iv) This is to facilitate the payment of Directors’ fees during the financial year in which the fees are incurred. The 
Directors’ fees will be paid quarterly in arrears. The aggregate amount of Directors’ fees provided in the 
resolution is calculated on the assumption that all the Directors will hold office for the whole of FY2021. Should 
any Director hold office for only part of FY2021 and not the whole of FY2021, the Director’s fee payable to him 
will be appropriately pro-rated. 

(v) Ordinary Resolution 7, if passed, will authorise the Directors, from the date of this AGM up to the date of the 
next annual general meeting or the date by which the next annual general meeting is required by law to be 
held, to issue shares, make or grant instruments (such as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares and 
to issue shares pursuant to such instruments, up to a number not exceeding 50% of the total number of issued 
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shares in the capital of the Company, of which up to 20% may be issued other than on a pro rata basis to 
shareholders. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be issued, the 
percentage of issued shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares, excluding treasury shares, 
in the capital of the Company at the time that this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for (a) new shares 
arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities; (b) new shares arising from the exercise 
of share options or vesting of share awards, provided the options or awards were granted in compliance with 
Part VII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST ; and (c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation 
or subdivision of shares. Adjustments in accordance with paragraphs (b) or (c) above are only to be made in 
respect of new shares arising from convertible securities, share options or share awards which were issued 
and outstanding or subsisting at the time of the passing of this Resolution. 

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

Where a member of the Company submits an instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM to attend, speak and 
vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and 
disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for the purpose of the processing and 
administration by the Company (or its agents) of the appointment of the Chairman of the AGM as proxy for the AGM 
(including any adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation  of the attendance lists, proxy lists, minutes 
and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment thereof ), and in order for the Company (or its 
agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines. 
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JASPER INVESTMENTS  LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Co. Reg. No. 198700983H)

PROXY FORM - ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(Please see notes overleaf before completing this Form).

IMPORTANT:

1.    For CPF/SRS investors who have used their CPF monies to buy Jasper 
Investments Limited’s shares, this Report is forwarded to them at the 
request of the CPF Approved Nominees.

2.     This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF/SRS investors and shall 
be ineffective for all intends and purposes if used or purported  to 
be used by them. CPF/SRS investors should contact their respective 
Agent Banks at least seven working days before the AGM to specify 
voting instructions and to ensure that their votes are submitted.

2.   By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or 
representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to  the personal 
data privacy terms set out in the Company’s Notice of Annual General 
Meeting dated 1 September 2020.

I/We    (Name)

of   (Address)

being a member/members* of JASPER INVESTMENTS LIMITED (the “Company”) hereby appoint the  Chairman of  
the  Meeting  as my/our*  proxy  to  attend  and to  vote  for me/us* on my/our*  behalf at the Annual 
General Meeting  of the Company to be held by way of electronic means on Tuesday,  22 September 2020 
at 9:30 a.m., and at any adjournment  thereof.  I/We* direct my/our*  proxy to vote for or against (or abstain 
from) the resolutions to be proposed at the Meeting as indicated hereunder.

Note: If no specific direction as to voting is given, the appointment of the Chairman of the Annual General 
Meeting as your proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid.

If you wish for your proxy to cast all your votes “For” or “Against” a resolution, please 
indicate your vote “For” or “Against” with a tick () within the relevant boxes provided. Alternatively, 
please indicate the number of votes as appropriate. If you wish for your proxy to abstain from voting on a 
resolution, please indicate your vote “Abstain” with a tick () in the relevant box provided. Alternatively, 
please indicate the number of shares that your proxy is directed to abstain from voting in the box provided.

No. Resolution relating to: For Against Abstain 

As Ordinary Business

1. Directors’ Report  and Audited  Financial Statements  for  the 
financial year ended 31 March 2020

2. Re-election of Mr Rajan Ganapathy as an Independent Non-
Executive Director

3. Re-election of Mr Wu Fengji as a Non-Independent Non-Executive 
Director

4. Re-election of Mr Heng Aik Yong as an Executive Director and Acting Chief 
Executive Director 

5. Approval of Directors’ Fees for the financial year ending 31 March 
2021

6. Re-appointment of Messrs Foo Kon Tan LLP as Auditor 

As Special Business

7. Share Issue Mandate

*  Delete where inapplicable

Dated this   day of   2020

Total number of shares in: No. of Shares

CDP Register

Register of Members

Signature of Shareholder(s)/
and, Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder
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Notes

1. Please insert the total number of shares held by you. If you have shares entered against your name in the Depository Register (as 
defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore), you should insert that number of shares. If you 
have shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of shares. If you have shares 
entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your name in Register of Members, you should insert the 
aggregate number of shares entered against your name in Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members. 
If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all the shares held by you.

2. Due to the current COVID-19 restriction orders in Singapore, a member will not be able to attend the AGM in person. A member (whether 
individual or corporate) must appoint the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy to attend, speak and vote on his/her/its behalf at the 
AGM if such member wishes to exercise his/her/its voting rights at the AGM. The accompanying proxy form for the AGM may be 
accessed at the Company’s website at the URL: http://www.jasperinvests.com/investor_relations.asp, and will also be made available 
on the SGX website at the URL https://www.sgx.com/securities/company-announcements. 

 Where a member (whether individual or corporate) appoints the Chairman of the AGM as his/her/its proxy, he/she/it must give specific 
instructions as to voting, or abstentions from voting, in respect of a resolution in the form of proxy, failing which the appointment of the 
Chairman of the AGM as proxy for that resolution will be treated as invalid. 

 Investors who hold shares through relevant intermediaries (as defined in Section 181(1C) of the Companies Act) (“Investors”) (including 
Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) and Supplementary Retirement Scheme (“SRS”) (“CPF/SRS Investors”)) who wish to appoint the 
Chairman of the AGM as proxy should approach their respective CPF Agent Banks or SRS Operators to submit their votes at least 
seven working days before the AGM (i.e. by 11 September 2020) to ensure that their votes are submitted.. 

3. The Chairman of the AGM, as proxy, need not be a member of the Company. 

4. The instrument appointing the Chairman of the AGM as proxy must be submitted to the Company in the following manner: 

(a) if submitted by post, be deposited at the office of the Share Registrar at 8 Robinson Road #03-00 ASO Building, Singapore 
048544; or 

(b) if submitted electronically, be submitted via email to main@zicoholdings.com,   

in either case not less than 48 hours before the time set for the holding of the AGM. 

5. A member who wishes to submit an instrument of proxy must first download, complete and sign the proxy form, before submitting it by 
post to the address provided above, or by scanning and sending it by email to the email address provided above. 

 In view of the current COVID-19 situation and the related safe distancing measures which may make it difficult for members to submit 
completed proxy forms by post, members are strongly encouraged to submit completed proxy forms electronically via email. 

6. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorized in writing. Where 
the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal or under the hand 
of an officer or attorney duly authorised. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by an attorney on behalf of the 
appointor, the letter or power of attorney or a duly certified copy thereof must be lodged with the instrument. 
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General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject an instrument of proxy or proxies which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where 
the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the instrument appointing a 
of proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of shares entered in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 81SF of the Securities and 
Futures Act (Chapter 289) of Singapore), the Company may reject an instrument of proxy or proxies if the member, being the appointor, is 
not shown to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two (72) hours before the time appointed for 
holding the Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY

By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy 
terms set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting dated 1 September 2020.
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